

FEDERAL OMBUDSMAN OF PAKISTAN

REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE FOR REFORMS OF PENSION SYSTEM FOR GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES

36-Constitution Avenue, Islamabad Ph: +92-51-9213886-7, Fax: +92-51-9217224 www.ombudsman.gov.pk







M. SALMAN FARUQUI Nishan-i-Imtiaz

Federal Ombudsman of Pakistan President Asian Ombudsman Association President Asian Region, International Ombudsman Institute

Islamabad, May 17, 2016

It gives me immense personal satisfaction to present this Report of the Committee for Reforms of Pension System for Government Employees that touches the lives of hundreds of thousands of our senior citizens who spent a better part of their lives in public service. They deserve reciprocity if nothing more.

The past three years that I have been in this office have, not infrequently, brought me face to face with tales of miseries that would move the stoutest of hearts. The pang and plight of the pensioners is amongst the top of the list. Being one of the most vulnerable groups, pensioners are and have thus remained our foremost concern for the past many years. Two years ago, a study of the pension system of Pakistan Railways was carried out when a pensioner died while waiting for his pension. The study made many recommendations for bringing about systemic changes to avoid recurrence of such tragic incidents. The scope of that study was, however, limited to the pension system of the employees of Pakistan Railways.

As the Federal Ombudsman, my greatest concern has been the inordinate and indeed painful delays in disposal of pension cases. I have taken, on my own motion, notice of many news reports pertaining to delays in settlement and payment of pension. It was in this background that a Pension Committee was constituted under the Chairmanship of Mr. Tanwir Ali Agha, former Auditor General of Pakistan. He was joined by eminent members with long experience in public service. The scope of this Committee was enlarged by encompassing in its purview all Federal Government Agencies.

The Committee has identified the systemic issues which need to be urgently addressed to streamline the procedures for timely payment of pension. The problems of pensioners persist not only on account of inadequacy of rules but also due to lack of effective empowerment mechanism for implementation of the available guidelines and the time lines laid down by the Government.

We believe that a truthful implementation of the recommendations made in this report will go a long way in providing much needed and much deserved relief to the pensioners who will no longer have to wait for years for completion of their pension papers and que up for hours to receive their pension.

I must thank Mr. Tanwir Ali Agha and his distinguished associates for their outstanding work in preparing this report. I must also appreciate here the work of Mr. M. Ayub Khan Tarin, former Additional Auditor General for his tireless work as Member/Secretary of the Committee.

I have full confidence that the Implementation Wing of the Wafaqi Mothasib (Ombudsman)'s Secretariat will ensure the implementation of recommendations through regular follow-up.

Lalmon Hang vo

M. Salman Faruqui

FOREWORD

For several years, the long delays in the payment of pension has been a source of tremendous hardship and humiliation to retiring officials and their families. Despite the strictures and orders passed by the Supreme Court and simplified guidelines laid down by the Government, complaints on account of delays persist.

- 2. The Wafaqi Mohtasib taking cognizance of this gross failure in delivering what is a retiring official's fundamental right, constituted a Committee to examine the problem and propose solution. I gladly accepted to chair this Committee.
- 3. The Committee has assessed the magnitude of the problem, its nature and identified possible solutions. All in consultation with a very broad spectrum of stakeholders ranging from the executive department, the Account Offices, policy makers, National Bank of Pakistan (NBP) and the Association for the Welfare of Retired Persons. These consultations took place over several meetings of the Committee, and smaller Committee constituted to draft report itself. The Committee adopted a holistic approach to the problem; the process leading to the sanction of pension, its disbursement and finally that of family pension.
- 4. I wish to thank the Hon'ble Wafaqi Mohtasib for the support provided by his office, my colleagues on the Committees, who gave so much of their time and attention to this grave humanitarian problem that afflict one of the weakest segments of society. A very special thank to Mr. M. Ayub Khan Tarin, Senior Advisor and Secretary of the Committee for his tireless, focused and eager hard work, without which this report would not have been possible.
- 5. The Committee has proposed recommendations that are substantive yet simple, practical and easy to implement. If accepted, these should go a long way in alleviating difficulties of the retirees and officials who are about to retire, ensuring a smooth transition to their golden year. They deserve no less.

(TANWIR ALI AGHA)
CHAIRMAN, PENSION COMMITTEE

COMPOSITION OF THE PENSION COMMITTEE CONSTITUTED BY THE HON'BLE WAFAQI MOHTASIB (OMBUDSMAN)

- **1.** Mr. Tanwir Ali Agha, Former Auditor General of Pakistan & Secretary, Ministry of Finance.
- **2.** Mr. Ahmad Jawad, Former Federal Secretary & Secretary Privatization Commission of Pakistan.
- **3**. Raja Raza Arshad, Senior Advisor, WMS & Former Federal Secretary.
- **4.** Syed Bilal Ahmed, Former Federal Secretary & Member Federal Service Tribunal (FST).
- 5. Mr. Shahid Rasheed, Former Secretary, Establishment Division & presently Chairman, Intellectual Property Organization (IPO).
- **6.** Mr. Izhar-ul-Haq, Former Military Accountant General and Former Additional Auditor General of Pakistan.
- 7. Mr. Asif Usman, Former Controller General of Accounts.
- **8.** Mr. Taimur Azmat Usman, Former Secretary, Establishment Division and Senior Advisor, Wafaqi Mohtasib Secretariat.
- **9.** Controller General of Accounts Ex-Officio Member
- **10.** Mr. Naimatullah Abid, Senior Advisor, Wafaqi Mohtasib Secretariat.
- **11**. Mr. Muhammad Ayub Khan Tarin, Sr. Advisor, WMS, Former Additional Auditor General of Pakistan and Additional Secretary, Ministry of Finance.

TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE COMMITTEE

The terms of reference of the Committee will include:-

- a) Problems that pensioners generally face in preparation and finalization of their pension.
- b) Review the existing Law/Rules/Procedure for preparation of pension papers and sanction of pension.
- c) Review the present set up and availability of human resources in the Ministries to deal with pension cases.
- d) Status of computerization of service record of officers/staff: does the system provide periodic inspection to ensure that service records are being continually up-dated. Use of technology and adoption of Direct Credit System in the Ministries.
- e) Reporting system within the Ministries and between the Ministries and the A.G. Offices to ensure that cognizance of delays and deficiencies is taken at appropriate level and corrective action taken. Implementation and follow-up mechanism in the Ministries and Accounts Offices.
- f) Role of Controller General of Accounts in performing its over sight responsibilities with regard to management of pension system by the Federal Government Agencies/disbursing agencies.

QUESTIONAIRE FOR THE MINISTRIES/DIVISIONS/DEPARTMENTS

Subject: EXPEDITIOUS PROCESSING AND FINALIZATION OF PENSION PAPERS

- i) What measures are in place to ensure that a retiring government servant begins to receive his pension on the date on which it becomes due?
- ii) Are arrangements in place to ensure that service record i.e. History of Services/Service Books of all government servants are kept upto date and complete?
- iii) Is verification of qualifying service done in respect of all government servants by the Departments and got verified from the Audit Office as per laid down procedure and schedule?
- iv) Is the Division/Department regularly maintaining a list showing the dates of retirement of all their Officers and staff who are due to retire in a calendar year and review it quarterly?
- v) What human resource is deployed exclusively on pension work?
- vi) What is the level of focal person to supervise pension work and liaise with Audit Office/other Departments?
- vii) Do the Divisions/Departments strictly adhere to the time-lines laid down for initiation of pension cases?

- viii) What follow-up mechanism do the Departments have, to check progress of pension papers/cases till their completion and final payment to the retiring government servants?
- ix) Does the Department maintain a list of family members eligible to receive family pension?
- x) Does the Department have a system to cater to family pension cases in a timely manner?
- xi) What is the number of government servants retiring within one year (current year & last 03 years data)?
- xii) What is the stage of computerization for up-dating service record of the employees?
- xiii) What arrangement is in place to maintain up-dated instructions relating to pension?

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary		1
Chapter #	· 01	
	• Introductory	9
	• Strategy/Methodology	9
Chapter #	÷ 02	
	Historical Background	11
	Admissibility of Pension	11
	Classification of Pension	12
Chapter #	÷ 03	
	Progress Made in Improving Pension System	13
	Rate/Scale and Amount of Pension	13
	• Processing/Sanction of Pension	14
Chapter #	÷ 04	
	 Government Instructions/Court' Orders for Timely Payment of Pension 	17
Chapter #	05	
	Major Issues/Causes of Delay	2 1
	Magnitude of the Problem	21
	 Nature of the Problem a. Procedural 	22 22

	b. Lack of Monitoring & Inadequate Supervisory Checks	24
	c. Lack of Accountability	24
	d. Capacity Issues	25
•	Nature of Complaints Received by Wafaqi Mohtasib Secretariat	26
•	Issues in Pension Payment by NBP Problem at the time of disbursement of Pension	27 28
Chapter # 0	6	
•	Responses of the Ministries/ Divisions/Departments To the Questionnaire	29
Chapter # 0	7	
•	Pension Disbursement	31
Chapter # 0	8	
•	Recommendations	35
•	Conclusion	39
Acknowledg	 Problem at the time of disbursement of Pension Responses of the Ministries/ Divisions/Departments To the Questionnaire Pension Disbursement Pension Disbursement Recommendations Conclusion Conclusion Conclusions/ Departments to the Questionnaire Annexure: A (I – VI) - Responses of the Ministries/ Divisions/ Departments to the Questionnaire Annexure: B - Minutes of the Meeting on Facilitation Measures for Pensioners Annexure: C - SOP/ Job Description/Templates for 	41
Annexures		43
•		45
•	Annexure: B - Minutes of the Meeting on Facilitation	66
•	Annexure: C - SOP/ Job Description/Templates for Facilitation of Pensioners	69

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Wafaqi Mohtasib, taking cognizance of the growing number of complaints regarding delay in grant of pension to retirees as well as media reports relating to problems faced by pensioners in receiving pension from National Bank of Pakistan, constituted a Committee to conduct a study of Federal Government pension system and to suggest reforms to make it more efficient, effective and transparent. Chairman of the Committee was former Auditor General of Pakistan and Members were former Federal Secretaries. Controller General of Accounts was ex-officio Member of the Committee. Accountant General Pakistan Revenues (AGPR), Ministry of Finance, Establishment Division, Ministry of Railways, Pakistan Post, Federal Directorate of Education (FDE) and the Association for Welfare of Retired Persons (AWRP) were co-opted.

2. Methodology adopted by the Committee was to:-

- a) assess magnitude of the problem.
- **b)** determine nature of the problem and identify impediments.
- **c)** deliberate on and recommend remedial measures.

3. a) MAGNITUDE OF THE PROBLEM

- Accountant General Pakistan Revenues (AGPR) Islamabad, which deals with major bulk of pension cases of Federal Government Employees, reported that, during the year 2015 (01.01.2015 to 31.12.2015), only 5% cases were received according to the laid down time-lines. The rest (95% cases) were received with a delay of one month to more than a year.
- Pakistan Railways, which is one of the major Departments in terms of number of employees, reported that in 12% pension cases the delay beyond 30 days was attributable to executive departments.

- **iii)** Wafaqi Mohtasib (Ombudsman)'s Secretariat received 520 pension-related complaints during the year 2015.
- iv) Many instances came to notice where family pension was delayed on account of delayed return of disburser half by National Bank of Pakistan (NBP) to AGPR.
- v) Certain autonomous bodies e.g. PTV, APP & Heritage etc. do not make timely payment of pension, as funds are utilized to meet their operational needs.
- b) The Committee observed that despite Supreme Court Orders and executive instructions, inordinate delays in the payment of pension continue to be frequently reported. This is a deep rooted chronic problem that results in great difficulties for the retiring officials and their families.

4. **NATURE OF THE PROBLEM**

There are multi dimensional aspects of the problem. These can be divided into four broad categories:

- a) Procedural.
- b) Lack of monitoring & inadequate Supervisory Checks.
- c) Lack of accountability.
- d) Capacity issues.

a) **PROCEDURAL**

The delays in payment of pension are mainly on account of deficiencies in service related documents, delay in verification of pay fixation, lack of timely verification of service and lack of simplified pension application form and procedure. The requirement of providing No Objection Certificate (NOC) from the Estate Office, which becomes quite an exacting task when the parent office does not take the responsibility and the pensioner has to run from pillar to post to obtain the NOC. The same applies to the departmental No Demand Certificate (NDC). In many cases of delay, service records are found incomplete at the time of preparation of pension papers and in other

cases where records/service statements are awaited from other offices/stations, protracted inter office correspondence causes delay.

These delays would not happen if:-

- The requirement of periodic verification of service is met as soon as a government servant has completed 10 years service, then on completion of 25 years service and finally before the date of retirement/superannuation.
- The laid down schedule for initiation of pension papers one year prior to the date of retirement is followed and the various stages prescribed both for the administrative department and the accounts offices are adhered to.

b) LACK OF MONITORING & INADEQUATE SUPERVISORY CHECKS

Things do not move in the right direction since there is little ownership at the top level, as a result of which progress of work of pension section is not reviewed on a regular basis by the Senior Management. Since structured supervision is not in place, various issues do not get resolved under an institutionalized arrangement.

c) LACK OF ACCOUNTABILITY

There is no accountability for inordinate delays in pension payment. Delays in disbursement of pension continue to occur not-withstanding repeated instructions issued by the government to finalize pension cases on priority. Even the Supreme Court of Pakistan took cognizance of delay in pension payments and directed government agencies to ensure timely payment of pension. However, the problem has so far defied solution. The Committee, therefore, is of the considered view that an element of punishment will have to be introduced to save retiring civil servants from the agony of delay in payment of pension. The Law empowers the Mohtasib to award

compensation against the delinquent government servants, responsible for causing delay in prompt payment of pension.

d) <u>CAPACITY ISSUES</u>

Lack of capacity, particularly in the administrative departments, is another factor that contributes to delay in pension. Not only are the sections dealing with pension inadequately staffed but the staff posted there do not have the necessary know how and training to properly process the cases.

5. **RECOMMENDATIONS**

- i) Implementation of all prescribed rules and procedures has to be ensured through an effective enforcement mechanism.
- ii) The level of supervisory checks and reviews need to be upgraded, structured and institutionalized. To this end, Pension Committees be constituted in Divisions /Departments/Accounts Offices to hold monthly meetings to review progress of pension cases.
- iii) Secretaries and Heads of Accounts Offices to hold joint meetings, when required, communicate regularly and take remedial measures where required.
- iv) Pension Welfare Cell with dedicated Pension Welfare Officer having clear job description be set up in every Division/Department.
- v) Placing properly trained dedicated human resource in pension branch of the Divisions/Departments. For this the AGPR should launch an expanded training program for relevant officers. This will take care of the capacity deficit and will also ensure sufficient awareness of the rules and their universal applicability. Appropriate staff strength in Administrative Departments/Accounts Offices needs to be provided for pension matters.

- vi) Head of Deptt/Office responsible in case of BS. 1-15 officials, must ensure that prescribed procedure of verifying qualifying service at a particular time each year and recording necessary entries in service book of official is followed and got confirmed from Accounts office after 10 years, 25 years and before retirement of the government servant.
- vii) The Accounts Offices who are responsible to compile History of Services of BS 16-22 officers must keep them up-to-date and send a list of officials retiring in next six month/one year to department concerned, and relevant Accounts Office to ensure that missing periods in history of service, if any, are completed before the retirement of officer.
- viii) **Grant of Anticipatory pension a mandatory provision:** Sub-section (4) of Section 19 of Civil Servant Act 1973 requires that when a government servant's pension is likely to be delayed beyond 30 days of his retirement/death, action shall be taken for grant of anticipatory pension; however, this mandatory provision is rarely followed. Head of Department, Accounts Office must follow this provision.
- ix) Further simplification of existing pension application form and procedures need to be done to avoid the delay in processing of pension papers.
- x) Providing No Objection Certificate (NOC), No Demand Certificate (NDC) should be the responsibility of Administrative Departments. Pension should not be held up on account of disciplinary proceedings/audit paras/NOC/NDC except for personal recoveries on account of Pay, Allowances and Advances.
- xi) Wafaqi Mohtasib may award compensation to the aggrieved retired civil servant for the period of delay in payment of pension and commutation in terms of Article-22 of President's Order No.1 of 1983. In addition, disciplinary action be initiated against officials responsible for delays in

- processing pension cases in the department, Accounts Office or the paying bank.
- xii) Accounts Offices should not start, at the time of retirement, re-calculation of pay fixation from day one of service. However, they may re-open only those few cases which are of doubtful nature.
- xiii) Since pension is exempt from income tax, government may exempt withdrawals from bank account of pensioners to the extent of amount of pension from levy of withholding tax.
- xiv) Where the sanction of family pension is likely to be delayed, the Department shall sanction provisional payment of family pension.
- xv) An orderly transition to Direct Credit System (DCS) to be made.
- xvi) Delay in re-imbursement of medical expenses is a cause of financial hardship to the pensioner. Medical re-imbursement to be made promptly, preferably within one month of presentation of claim by the pensioner. Government may consider adapting best practices as in place in certain autonomous bodies e.g., PTV.
- xvii) National Bank of Pakistan (NBP) and disbursing Banks to ensure prompt payment as per authorization and reconcile payments with authorizing office. They must also ensure that no delays occur in sending Disburser's Half to Accounts Offices in case of family pension.
- xviii) National Bank of Pakistan (NBP) to take special measures for ensuring payments exactly in terms of pension entitlements and increases allowed by Government from time to time and investigate the cases of overpayments/under-payments referred to at Para-26 of the Report.
- xix) Special Counters in Banks during the pension payment days should be opened on a regular basis.

- xx) Establishment Division also created Standardized Templates corresponding to different steps described in Manual of Pension Procedures. These, alongwith TORs/job description of Pension Welfare Officer, was examined by Finance Division, AGPR and Establishment Division on the direction of the Committee. The Committee approved their recommendations for adoption by the Ministries/Divisions/Departments.
- All retirees be required to give particulars of eligible family member (and an alternate if that member pre-deceases the retiree) to whom family pension may be transferred. The nomination may be confirmed/reviewed by the pensioner every year.
- xxii) A system of on-line verification of Last Pay Certificate (LPC) and service statement, related to other accounts office, needs to be introduced in order to avoid delay in finalization of pension cases because of non-availability/non-verification of these documents.
- xxiii) Demand for allowing joint accounts in Direct Credit System (DCS) needs to be considered.
- xxiv) Government may consider giving to the pensioner copy of his Pension Payment Order (PPO) bearing stamp, "Not valid for payment -- only for pensioner's identity", or alternatively, the Accounts Office may issue a pension card to the pensioner containing his relevant particulars.

CHAPTER # 01

INTRODUCTORY

The purpose of establishment of the office of Wafaqi Mohtasib (Federal Ombudsman) is to redress public grievances against cases of maladministration of federal government agencies. Article 18 of the Wafaqi Mohtasib (Federal Ombudsman)'s Order, 1983 provides that "The Mohtasib may, whenever he thinks fit, establish standing or advisory committees at specified places with specific jurisdiction for performing such functions of the Mohtasib as are assigned to them from time to time and every report of such committee shall first be submitted to the Mohtasib with its recommendations for appropriate action." The Wafaqi Mohtasib, taking cognizance of the growing number of complaints regarding delay in grant of pension to retirees as well the media reports relating to problems faced by the pensioners in receiving pension from National Bank of Pakistan, constituted a Committee, on 03 August 2015, to conduct a study of Federal Government pension system and to suggest reforms to make it more efficient, effective and transparent.

STRATEGY/METHODOLOGY ADOPTED BY THE COMMITTEE

- 2. Methodology adopted by the Committee was to:
 - a) assess magnitude of the problem;
 - b) determine nature of the problem; and
 - c) deliberate on and recommend remedial measures.
- **3.** Following six Ministries/Divisions/Departments were associated with the Committee during its deliberations:
 - (i) Finance Division.
 - (ii) Establishment Division.
 - (iii) Ministry of Railways.
 - (iv) Accountant General Pakistan Revenues (AGPR).

- (v) Pakistan Post Office.
- (vi) Federal Directorate of Education (FDE).
- 4. A questionnaire, containing 13 questions, was circulated among the selected Ministries/Divisions/Departments. The purpose was to look into measures and arrangements in place to ensure that a retiring Government servant begins to receive his pension on the date on which it becomes due, with all the required tasks having been done prescribed schedule. Copy of the responses of according to the Ministries/Divisions/Departments are at **Annex - A (I to VI)**. In addition, the Association for Welfare of Retired Persons (AWRP) was associated with the Committee after the second meeting.
- **5.** Decisions taken during the meeting chaired by Finance Minister in the office of Auditor General of Pakistan on 16^{th} October, 2015 were reviewed by the Pension Committee (copy placed at **Annex B**) and have been suitably incorporated in the recommendations of the Committee.
- During the 3rd meeting of the Committee held on 17thDecember, 2015, National Bank of Pakistan (NBP) gave a detailed briefing on their newly developed Pension Payment System (PPS) which was being implemented in three phases. It was explained that currently they are in Phase-III which envisages:

(1) PAYMENT THROUGH ACCOUNT/ATM (PENSION CARD)

Pensioner will visit the branch and put his/her thumb on the machine. The system will identify the pensioner and rest of the activities will be performed by the system automatically.

(2) PAYMENT THROUGH BIO-METRIC AT CENTER/ATM (PENSION CARD)

With the implementation of this module, the pensioner will not be required to visit the branch where his account is being maintained. He will just visit any nearest National Bank of Pakistan (NBP) Branch or ATM having Bio-metric facility.

CHAPTER # 02

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

ADMISSIBILITY OF PENSION

- 7. Service pension is a periodical payment made by government in consideration of past service rendered by a government servant for a minimum period of 10 years. If the Government servant has rendered five years qualifying service or more but less than ten years qualifying service, he is only entitled to a gratuity not exceeding one month's emoluments for each completed year of qualifying service. In case of invalidation or death in service the rate will be 1-1/2 months' pay for each completed year of service. In such cases no pension is admissible. A pension is payable monthly on or after the first day of the following month. Initial legislation regulating pension matters in Sub-Continent was enacted through Pension Act 1871 and there-under Rules were framed by the Government from time to time. Basic principles and conditions under which pension is earned by service in Civil Departments and manner of calculation are laid down in Civil Service Regulations (CSR). Pensionary benefits/entitlements and procedures have been modified by the government from time to time. Major reforms introduced over the years include Pension-cum-Gratuity Scheme 1954, Liberalized Pension Rules 1977, Revised Pay Scale 2001 and Revised Pay Scale 2005.
- **8**. Statutory provisions relating to pension are contained in Section 19 of Civil Servant Act 1973, which stipulates:-

"Pension and gratuity.—

- (1) On retirement from service, a civil servant shall be entitled to receive such pension or gratuity as may be prescribed.
- (2) In the event of death of the civil servant, whether before or after retirement, his family shall be entitled to receive such pension, or gratuity, or both, as may be prescribed.

- (3) No pension shall be admissible to a civil servant who is dismissed or removed from service for reasons of discipline, but Government may sanction compassionate allowance to such a civil servant, not exceeding two-thirds of the pension or gratuity which would have been admissible to him had he not been invalidated from service on the date of such dismissal or removal.
- (4) If the determination of the amount of pension or gratuity admissible to a civil servant is delayed beyond one month of the date of his retirement or death, he or his family, as the case may be, shall be paid provisionally such anticipatory pension or gratuity as may be determined by the prescribed authority, according the length of service of the civil servant which qualifies for pension or gratuity; and any overpayment consequent on such provisional payment shall be adjusted against the amount of pension or gratuity finally determined as payable to such civil servant or his family".

CLASSIFICATION OF PENSION

9. Retirement from service may be on any of the following grounds: (i) on reaching the prescribed age of superannuation i.e. 60 years; (ii) seeking voluntary retirement after completing 25 years qualifying service; (iii) because of permanent mental or bodily incapacitation and (iv) owing to abolition of civil servant's post, provided he is discharged after completing qualifying service of 10/25 years or more. Accordingly, the corresponding pension is classified as Superannuation pension, Retiring pension, Invalid pension and Compensation pension respectively.

CHAPTER # 03

PROGRESS MADE IN IMPROVING PENSION SYSTEM

RATE/SCALE AND AMOUNT OF PENSION

- 10. The most important factors relevant to the determination of the amount of gratuity/pension are the length of qualifying service rendered by a Government servant before retirement/death and his emoluments on that date. Information in both these respects is computed on the basis of the information available in the History of Services/Service Book/records of the Government servant concerned. The service of an officer begins to qualify for pension from the date he takes charge of the office to which he is first appointed. Only the service paid from the General Revenues qualifies for pension. Foreign service also counts for pension provided the pension contribution was paid as required under the rules. All periods of leave, other than extraordinary leave, count as service qualifying for pension.
- 11. Pension is calculated at the rate of 70 percent of the emoluments at the time of retirement/death on completion of 30 years qualifying service. Where qualifying service is less than 30 years but not less than 10 years, the pension is calculated at the percentage applicable according to length of service. A Government servant is entitled to commute for a lump sum payment of any portion, not exceeding 35% of pension. Family Pension is granted to the family of a Government servant who dies before retirement, having at least 10 years qualifying service, or after retirement. Wife/children are the only legal nominees for Pension/Gratuity irrespective of the fact that nomination is in their names or not. However, a female Government Servant can exclude her husband from her family for this purpose. In case of death of a Government Servant while in service, gratuity in lieu of one fourth of the gross pension is allowed. In addition to above, family pension @ 75% of the gross pension is admissible to the widow for her life period or till her marriage and after the death of widow, the family pension is admissible to the son(s) until the age of 21 years

or the eldest unmarried/widowed daughter till her marriage. If the Government Servant had more than one wife, the pension shall be divided equally amongst the surviving widows and children. When the Government servant leaves no family the amount of gratuity /pension shall be payable to the following surviving relatives, if any, of the Government servant in equal shares, provided such person was dependent on the deceased Government servant:-

- (a) Mother;
- (b) Father;
- (c) Un-married sisters /widowed sisters; and
- (d) Brothers below the age of 21 years.

PROCESSING/SANCTION OF PENSION

- 12. The Head of the Department (in the case of B-16 and above officers) and Head of office (in the case of B-l to B-15 employees) are responsible for initiating the pension case (Form C.S.R. 25 (Revised) one year before the expected date of retirement. Simultaneously, the departmental authorities should consult the records and see whether any recoveries are due from him. If there are any such dues, early steps should be taken to complete the recoveries of the dues before the date of retirement. They should also notify to the Estate Officer or other organizations which are likely to prefer a demand, to verify the position in respect of demand outstanding against the official concerned within a period of three months of the initiation of the case and, thereafter, to keep a close watch on the current demands.
- 13. It should also be ensured that all the preliminary enquiries, filling of pension form, verification of qualifying service, etc., are completed by the time the officer submits the formal application. Six months before the expected date of retirement, the concerned official to be asked to fill in and sign Part I of the Form and submit it alongwith three specimen signatures, three photographs and two sets of thumb and finger impression on the prescribed Form, all duly attested. Pension papers are to be completed three months

before the date of retirement and submitted to sanctioning authority for approval. Then the papers are forwarded alongwith prescribed documents to Accounts Office, which issues the Pension Payment Order (PPO) after pre-audit of pension claim.

PAYMENT OF PENSION

14. Beginning of payment of pension — Pension is payable from the date on which the government servant ceases to be borne on the establishment and to be disbursed on or after the first day of the following month. A gratuity or commutation is paid in a single sum, on receipt of the Accountant General's authority. A pensioner can draw his pension from a District Accounts Officer, Treasury/Sub-Treasury or any branch of the National Bank of Pakistan on the authority of Pension Payment Order (PPO). Government servants retiring on or after 01-07-2015 are required to open a bank account in any branch of a commercial bank for direct credit of their pension by the accounts offices each month. From January, 2011 Direct Credit System (DCS) of pension was introduced under which a pensioner can receive pension from his bank account in any branch of scheduled bank. Initially the scheme was optional but made compulsory for Government servant retiring on or after 01.08.2014. For prior period pensioner, BPS-17 and above have been asked to join DCS by 30.06.2016, however, BPS-16 and below will have option to continue to receive pension from National Bank of Pakistan (NBP) or join DCS.

CHAPTER # 04

GOVERNMENT INSTRUCTIONS/COURTS' ORDERS FOR TIMELY FINALIZATION OF PENSION CASES AND PROMPT DISBURSEMENT OF PENSION

- **15.** Article 906 of CSR requires that all authorities dealing with pension cases should bear in mind that delay in the payment of pensions involves pecuniary hardship. It is essential to ensure that a retiring government servant begins to receive his pension on the date on which it becomes due. With this end in view, the procedure for preparation of pension papers and sanction of pensions has been regularly reviewed and simplified by the Government over the years. Following instructions, identifying the causes to which the delay for the payment of pension can be attributed and how best these could be eliminated, have been issued by the Government.
- **16**. In order to ensure finalization of pension case before government servant's retirement, following timeline has been prescribed:-

i)	Initiation of pension case by the department	} One year before date of
ii)	Ascertaining any outstanding dues and	} retirement.
	Initiate recovery thereof.	}
iii)	Signing of pension form and submission of	}
	prescribed documents by the retiring official.	} Six months before date of
iv)	Requests for furnishing 'No Demand Certificate	} retirement.
	to be made to all concerned	
v)	Sanction by competent authority and	
	submission of case to Accounts Office.	} Three months before date
		} of retirement.
	, CDDO	
vi)	Issuance of PPO.	} A fortnight before
		retirement.

- 17. In order to determine length of qualifying service rendered and the emoluments, service record of government servant must be complete. Accordingly, all Divisions/Departments/Offices are required to maintain a "History File" of each gazetted officer. This File should contain (a) gazette notifications, (b) charge reports, (c) a separate card or booklet showing the dates of assumption and relinquishment of each post and emoluments drawn and (d) a leave account showing the various kinds of leave taken by the officer from time to time. As soon as an officer is transferred to another Department or Office, his "History File" should also move with him to the new Office or Department. This "History File" should be shown to the officer concerned in January every year and his acknowledgement obtained on it after settling any discrepancy. The Accounts offices are responsible for compilation of History of Services in respect of B-16 and above regularly and keep them up-to-date.
- 18. It was observed that pension cases of BS.1-15 employees are mainly delayed because their service books are either incomplete or are misplaced. In order to eliminate delays on this account, it was decided that the service books of Government servants should be maintained in duplicate and that one copy of the service book should be kept in the custody of the Government servant concerned who will also be required to ensure that all entries in his service book are recorded and attested in time.
- 19. If the work load justifies, a whole time officer should be exclusively designated for supervising maintenance of Service Books. It should be ensured that all entries are duly made and attested and that the Service Book contains no erasures or over writings, all corrections being neatly made and properly attested. The service of a Government servant should be got verified by the Accounts Office on completion of 10 years, 25 years and finally in respect of the period after 25 years when a Government servant is actually due to retire. The second copy of the Service Book should be kept in the custody of the Government servant concerned who should ensure that all entries in his service book are recorded and attested in time.

- 20. One cause of delay in finalizing pension cases is stated to be the "No-Demand Certificate", which is one of the documents to be furnished with the pension papers to the Accounts Office. Requests for furnishing "No-Demand Certificate" should be made by the department to all concerned at least six months before the date of retirement of the Government servant. If any demand is outstanding against the officer, it must be intimated not later than 15 days after the date of retirement. Payment of pension should not be held up for want of "No Demand Certificates". Pension may be sanctioned if the pensioner or his family (in the event of his death before retirement) agrees that the demand coming to notice within a period of one year after the issue of the PPO may be recovered from the pension.
- 21. Full particulars of the officers and staff proceeding on Foreign Service must be communicated promptly to the Accounts Offices. The Departments should ensure that recoveries of pension and leave salary contributions in respect of all officials who are on foreign service have been effected and accounted for by the Accounts Office. Unless the official was himself liable to pay the pension contributions, the issue of his Pension Payment Order should not be held up for want of receipt of such contributions. It shall be mandatory for the drawing and disbursing officers and accounts authorities to issue Last Pay Certificate within 15 days of the date of retirement of a Government servant.
- 22. Besides Government's instructions, Superior Courts have also taken notice of delays in sanction/payment of pension and passed various orders for timely finalization of pension cases. Taking Suo-Moto Notice of problems faced by pensioners in receiving pension from National Bank, the Supreme Court asked Government to allow pensioners to receive pension through scheduled bank of their choice. Pursuant to Supreme Court's Order dated 17-09-2007 in Human Rights case No.2492 of 2007, Government has initiated Direct Credit System under which pension is directly credited in the Pensioner's bank account opened in any Scheduled Bank including National Saving Centres. It enables a pensioner to receive monthly pension without preferring a pension payment claim at the bank and draw the amount at his/her own convenience through ATM.

23. Supreme Court of Pakistan has also held heads of departments accountable for delay in finalization of pension cases, through its Judgment dated 21-02-2013 in Civil Appeal No. 48 of 2013, circulated through Finance Division O.M No. F.11(1)-Reg.6/2013 dated 3rd May, 2013. It require all departments to finalize pensionary / retirement benefit cases within a period not more than two weeks, failing which the head of department shall also be held liable for the contempt of the Court and shall be dealt with strictly in accordance with law.

CHAPTER # 05

MAJOR ISSUES/CAUSES OF DELAY

24. Notwithstanding the progress made, there still are major issues that confront the pension system. Despite Supreme Court Orders and executive instructions, inordinate delays in payment of pension are frequently reported.

MAGNITUDE OF THE PROBLEM

i. Accountant General Pakistan Revenues, Islamabad, which deals with major bulk of pension cases of the Federal Government Employees, has provided time series analysis of pension cases received during 2015. According to it, only 5% of cases were submitted in time before the date of retirement. The remaining 95% of the cases were delayed from one month to more than a year. Following is a profile of the time-lines of pension cases submitted by administrative departments to AGPR, Islamabad from 1st January to 31st December, 2015:-

Day Range	#of Cases	Percentage %
Cases received in time	130	5%
Cases received with a delay of 1-30 days	429	17%
Cases received with a delay of 31-60 days.	450	18%
Cases received with a delay of 61-180 days	988	39%
Cases received with a delay of 180-365	351	14%
Cases received with a delay of more than one	206	8%
year.		
Total:	2554	100%

- ii. Similarly, Pakistan Railways, which is one of the major departments in terms of number of employees, reported that 992 cases out of a total of 5556 pension cases they finalized during the period from 01.07.2013 to 31.12.2015 had major observations which caused delay of more than 30 days.
- iii. Wafaqi Mohtasib (Ombudsman)'s Secretariat received 520 pension-related complaints during the year 2015.

- iv. AGPR has reported variations in payment by National Bank of Pakistan (NBP) branches which create hardship for thousands of pensioners. Besides, there are instances where family pension cases are delayed on account of delayed return of disburser's half by National Bank of Pakistan (NBP) to AGPR.
- v. There are organizations who do not make timely payment of pension as funds are utilized to meet their operational needs.

The above data is alarming. It reveals that despite measures taken by the Government to simplify and expedite the process and despite instructions issued by both Government and the Supreme Court of Pakistan, delays are the norm and not exception.

NATURE OF THE PROBLEM

The deliberations of the Committee under-line the fact that there are multi dimensional aspects of this issue. This can be divided into four categories:-

- a) Procedural.
- b) Lack of monitoring & inadequate Supervisory Checks.
- c) Lack of accountability.
- d) Capacity issues.

a) **PROCEDURAL**

i. Pensions are subjected to avoidable delays due to wrong practice of recalculating pay fixation from day one i.e. the date of joining service. This practice has no justification whatsoever, firstly because occasions of pay fixation arise several times during service span of 25 to 35 years. Pay fixed on each occasion has to be treated as a past and closed transaction. There has to be an element of finality in pay fixed by Accounts Offices during service. Secondly, Civil Servants draw salary as determined by Accounts Offices and are, therefore, not responsible for over payment, if any. Pay authorized to

Government servants are drawn by them in good faith. A recovery at the belated stage of retirement surely causes hardship and should be waived in terms of Rule 49 of the General Financial Rules (GFR) Volume-I. Government Departments should, therefore, be barred from reopening decade old fixation cases. Pension should be calculated on pay drawn at the time of retirement. These recommendations will eliminate delay in payment of pension in several cases.

- ii. Representative of AGPR responding to the aforesaid recommendation stated that they do not recalculate pay fixation from day one of service. They, on the other hand, calculate pay fixation after last confirmation of pay fixation by Audit. Recalculation of pay fixation from day one is done only in very few doubtful cases. They were of the view that any further relaxation for the sake of facilitation may lead to serious risk in pension payment. They advocated the sensitivity of AGPR's prerogative to maintain a balance between accountability and pensioner's facilitation.
- iii. Consensus of the Committee was that Accounts Offices should not start, at the time of retirement, re-calculation of pay fixation from day one of service. However, they may reopen only those few cases which are of doubtful nature.
- iv. The delays in payment of pension are also on account of deficiencies in service related documents, delayed or incorrect pay fixation, lack of timely verification of service and lack of simplified pension application form and procedure. The requirement of providing NOC from the Estate Office and No Demand Certificate (NDC) from the Department, which becomes quite an exacting task when the parent office does not take the responsibility and the pensioner has to run from pillar to post to get it. In many cases of delay, service records are found incomplete at the time of preparation of pension papers and in other cases where records/service statements are awaited

from other offices/stations, protracted inter office correspondence causes delay. These delays would not happen if:

- The requirement of periodic verification of service is met as soon as
 a government servant has completed 10 years service, then on
 completion of 25 years service and finally before the date of
 retirement/superannuation.
- The laid down schedule for initiation of pension papers one year prior to the date of retirement is followed and the various stages prescribed both for the administrative department and the accounts offices are adhered to.

b) LACK OF MONITORING & INADEQUATE SUPERVISORY CHECKS

Things do not move in the right direction since there is little ownership at the top level as a result of which progress of work of pension section is not reviewed on a regular basis by the Senior Management. Since structured supervision is not in place, various issues do not get resolved under an institutionalized arrangement.

c) <u>LACK OF ACCOUNTABILITY</u>

There is no accountability for inordinate delays in pension payment. Complaints of inordinate delay in payment of pension are frequently reported in the press. Federal as well as Provincial Ombudsman Offices, continue to receive complaints alleging delay in finalization and payment of pension. Delays in disbursement of pension continue to occur not-withstanding repeated instructions issued by the government to finalize pension cases on priority. Even the Supreme Court of Pakistan took cognizance of delay in pension payments and directed government agencies to ensure timely payment of pension. However, the problem has so far defied solution. The Committee is,

therefore, of the considered view that an element of punishment will have to be introduced to save retiring civil servants from the agony of delay in payment of pension. Law empowers the Mohtasib to award compensation against the delinquent government servants, responsible for causing loss or damage to individuals in the discharge of the duties. The provision of Law as contained in President's Order No.1 of 1983 is reproduced as follows:-

"22. Award of costs and compensation and refund of accounts---

(1) The Mohtasib may, where he deems necessary, call upon a public servant, other functionary or any Agency to show cause why compensation be not awarded to an aggrieved party for any loss or damage suffered by him on account of any mal-administration committed by such public servant, other functionary or agency, and after considering the explanation, and hearing such public servant, other functionary or Agency, award reasonable costs or compensation and the same shall be recoverable as arrears of land revenue from the public servant, functionary or Agency."

It is recommended that the Mohtasib may award compensation to the aggrieved retired civil servants, for the period of delay in payment of pension and commutation. The amount of compensation may be at the rate of profit as on Pension Benefit Account of the National Savings Department, where pensioners keep their amount of commutation.

In addition, disciplinary action be initiated against officials responsible for delays in processing pension cases in the department, Accounts Office or the paying bank.

d) <u>CAPACITY ISSUES</u>

Lack of capacity, particularly in the administrative departments, is another factor that contributes to delay in pension. Not only are the sections dealing with pension inadequately staffed but the staff posted there do not have the necessary know how and training to properly process the cases.

25. NATURE OF COMPLAINTS RECEIVED BY WAFAOI MOHTASIB SECRETARIAT

Complaints related to pension received by Wafaqi Mohtasib (Ombudsman)'s Secretariat involve blatant mismanagement/inefficiency on the part of Government Organizations. Nature of such complaints is as follows:

- a) Non-completion of documents required for sanction of pension. The details of papers, which form part of pension application form, requiring submission of information which is time consuming and cumbersome. Concerned departments do not sanction pension until these documents are completed. Delayed disbursement of pension will continue to persist till such time as the documents are simplified.
- b) Pensioners face difficulty when increase in pension in accordance with notification of Finance Division, whenever issued, is not added to their monthly pension. The increase at times involves approval of Board/Competent Authority. Pensioners have to run from pillar to post to get increase in their pension. There should be a viable system through which the increases are automatically added to their pension whenever such enhancement is notified.
- c) The pension is not sanctioned by the Departments under the plea that some inquiry or audit paras are pending against the retiring/retired officer. The departments do not take decision and, therefore, the pension remains in limbo.
- d) Pension in all cases is not being credited to the bank account of pensioners. Such pensioners form queues outside the banks for submission of form and getting cash. Banks do not have dedicated counter for retired employees or they do not

have an arrangement to allocate days to deal with pensioners on separate days to avoid rush. The bank employees are not trained to handle these cases.

e) There is a large number of Government Organizations i.e. Pakistan Television Corporation (PTV), Associated Press of Pakistan (APP), Heritage etc. who do not have funds for disbursement of pension. They utilize the pension funds to meet their operational expenditure. The pensioners, therefore, do not get their commutation/pension for years. Pension money is not treated as a trust to be used only for the purpose for which it is given.

26. <u>ISSUES IN PENSION PAYMENT BY NATIONAL BANK OF PAKISTAN (NBP)</u>

a) Payment through National Bank of Pakistan (NBP) branches on the basis of PPO issued by AGPR constitutes around 94% of pensioners. AGPR has reported that NBP branches have made over-payments/under-payments of pension contrary to payment authorities issued by AGPR and the actual rate of increases allowed by the Government. This creates hardship for thousands of pensioners besides causing litigations by the affected parties. Details are as under:

<u>Under-payments/over-payments by NBP (January 2015 to January 2016)</u>

Name of Office	Under-payments	Over-payments
AGPR, Islamabad	Rs. 78,972,142	Rs. 43,320,398
AGPR, Sub Office, Karachi	Rs. 230,842,366	Rs. 1,834,561
AGPR,Sub Office, Lahore	Rs. 273,080,738	Rs. 9,308,836
AGPR, Sub Office,	Rs. 33,810,909	Rs. 525,600
Peshawar		
AGPR, Sub Office, Quetta	Rs. 4,839,763	Rs. 1,927,158
Total:	Rs. 621,545,918	Rs. 56,916,553

a) Many instances have come to notice where family pension cases are delayed on account of delayed return of disburser's half by National Bank of Pakistan (NBP) to AGPR.

b) Government's decision to convert cases of all BS-17 and above to Direct Credit System (DCS) is being delayed as NBP Branches are unable to furnish the requisite documents including disburser's half of PPO to AGPR.

27. PROBLEMS AT THE TIME OF DISBURSEMENT OF PENSION

Government is implementing payment of pension through Direct Credit System (DCS) so that pensioners do not have to face the hassle and resultant delay in getting payment of their pension. But complete switch over to the new system will take time. Till such time the existing system continues, pensioners face the following problems:-

- a) Pensioners submit manual claims and have to wait long hours as manual processing of claims takes time. There are facilitation problems as arrangements to facilitate pensioners are lacking. Resultantly, there are complaints as manual system is prone to error and is time consuming.
- b) There is high risk of payment variation and misplacement of record which are inherent in manual system.

CHAPTER # 06

28. <u>RESPONSES OF THE MINISTRIES/DIVISIONS/DEPARTMENTS TO THE QUESTIONNAIRE</u>

Responses of the Ministries/Divisions/ Departments to the questionnaire are at **Annex - A (I to VI)**. Impression that emerges from the responses is that a sound system is in place which is being followed and there are no serious problems. But the ground realities as mentioned at Para 24 to 27 of the Report convinces us to the contrary. The following problems emerge:

- i. The state of verified/up-dated service record in Agencies leaves much to be desired.
- ii. Pension work does not receive due attention in Government departments, as a result of which pension sections are not properly staffed with trained people.
- iii. Pension work is not being effectively supervised or monitored at a senior level either in Govt. Departments or in the Account Offices. There is no institutionalized mechanism that provides oversight. There is little or no accountability where delays take place.
- iv. Pensioners facilitation in their parent Departments is lacking as a result of which optimum service is not being provided i.e. assisting them to get NOC, and arranging the required information from other offices.
- v. Ownership of pensioners is lacking as a result of which pensioner himself has to run from pillar to post to arrange the required papers and get the case expedited from the Accounts Offices.

ESTBLISHMENT DIVISON'S RESPONSE

vi. Establishment Division reported that there was no structured supervision of pension matters. Establishment Division has, therefore, set-up a Pension

Welfare Cell with dedicated Pension Welfare Officer with clear job description. Joint Secretary is the focal person for pension work under the supervision of the Secretary. Secretary reviews progress of work of Pension Welfare Cell. Under the arrangement of e-office, pension work is integrated and data is reflected on the dash board of Secretary, Joint Secretary (focal person) and Pension Welfare Officer. Under the system that they have developed, steps have been provided which are followed for timely submission of pension cases and templates have been developed for facilitation of pensioners. In the meeting of the Pension Committee on February 11, 2016 the Committee directed that before recommending applicability universal of Forms/Templates/TORs/Job Description developed by Establishment Division, the Finance Division, Establishment Division and AGPR should sit together and submit their proposal to the Committee for consideration and further recommendation.

vii. Establishment Division vide their U.O. dated 22nd February, 2016 informed that a meeting as per direction of the Committee was held and all the three members unanimously recommended to submit the same to the Committee to consider adoption by all Ministries/Divisions/Departments/Subordinate Offices etc. to ensure uniformity of approach to facilitate pensioners. (Annex- C). The Committee approved these recommendations for adoption by the Ministries/Divisions/Departments.

CHAPTER # 07

PENSION DISBURSEMENT

- **29.** Three Agencies are involved in finalizing and disbursement of pensions to retiring government employees viz Executive/Administrative Departments, AGPR and Banks. With the introduction of Direct Credit System (DCS), the role of Banks would largely be confined to disbursement of pensions to pensioners through their Bank account.
- **30.** Administrative Deportments and Accounts Offices are required to prepare lists, showing the date of retirement of government servants, one year prior to date of retirement, without waiting for formal application from the government servant concerned. The list is required to be reviewed/monitored on quarterly basis alongwith checking of outstanding dues against the government servant. Data base of employees linked with pay rolls should normally contain all relevant information/particulars.
- 31. Complete pension cases, with all required documents, are required to be forwarded to the concerned Audit Offices/Accounts Offices, along with administrative sanction for grant of pension at least three months before the actual date of retirement, after obtaining formal pension application from the employee, six months in advance of his retirement under CSR 907. No Objection Certificate (NOC) from Estate Office and pension contribution liability, should not present any bar in this regard, nor should audit paras except those relating to personal recoveries.
- **32.** According to "Time Series Analysis of Pension Cases", during 01.01.2015 to 31.12.2015, submitted to AGPR, the foremost reason causing delay in finalizing pension cases was their late submission by Administrative Departments. Of the 2554 cases received during January to December, 2015, only 130 (5%) were received in time i.e. three months before the actual date of retirement. 73% cases were received between 30 to 180 days after the due date, 14% cases were received between 180 to 365 days and 8% cases were received one year after the due date.

- 33. Of the 2554 pension cases received by AGPR (from January to December, 2015), 840 cases i.e. 33% were processed and finalized within 1-10 days, 48% within 11 to 40 days and 19% cases took more than 40 days. As per Finance Division's letter dated 25thNovember, 2000, these were to be finalized within a week. Pension Payment Order (PPO) has, in any case, to be issued fifteen days before the date on which the Government servant proceeds on retirement.
- **34.** Cases which took between 21 to 40 days were on account of the fact that pension roll was closed on 15th of every month and the pending cases, though finalized, were added in the next pension roll alongwith cases where service statements and Last Pay Certificates (LPCs) were required from other Account Offices. To address this problem, AGPR has introduced Supplementary Pension Roll (SPR) during the month.
- **35.** The cases which took more than 40 days for processing/finalization were returned at least once, with various observations. The list of 16 observations indicated that some of these could be done away with:

Deficiencies commonly observed in pension papers were:-

- Non-issuance of retirement notification in time, sanction's retirement date in office order differs from the one on pension application form (CSR025).
- Errors in Last Pay Certificate (LPC), pay fixation, date of birth, incorrect interest calculation, omitting or effecting less recoveries, incomplete service verification and leave account, non-completion of disciplinary proceedings, pending audit paras.
- **36.** AGPR has started a series of training programs for focal persons and welfare officers to address capacity issues of Ministries and Divisions. Besides, a simplified version of pension application form has been designed and submitted to the Ministry of Finance.
- **37.** Pension cases of all BPS-17 and above Officers are being converted to Direct Credit System (DCS). The process is to be completed by 30.06.2016.

- **38.** With the introduction of Direct Credit System (DCS), pension book (which is an identity of a pensioner) would be eliminated. Government may consider giving to the pensioner copy of his PPO bearing stamp "not valid for payment --- only for pensioner's identity" or alternatively the Accounts Office may issue a Pension Card to the pensioner containing his relevant particulars.
- **39.** Progress Sheet prescribed under Sl.No.53 of Manual of Pension Procedure envisages its return by Accounts Office to Ministry/Department after issuance of Pension Payment Order (PPO), so that Ministry/Department is informed of the issuance of PPO.

CHAPTER # 08

RECOMMENDATIONS & CONCLUSION

40. RECOMMENDATIONS

- i) Implementation of all prescribed rules and procedures has to be ensured through an effective enforcement mechanism.
- ii) The level of supervisory checks and reviews need to be upgraded, structured and institutionalized. To this end, Pension Committees be constituted in Divisions/Departments/Accounts Offices to hold monthly meetings to review progress of pension cases. These Committee be headed by the Secretary/Head of Department. Similar Committees be set up in the Accounts Offices.
- iii) Secretaries and Heads of Accounts Offices to hold joint meetings, when required, communicate regularly and take remedial measures where required.
- iv) Pension Welfare Cell with dedicated Pension Welfare Officer having clear job description be set up in every Division/Department.
- v) Placing properly trained dedicated human resource in pension branch of the Divisions/Departments. For this the AGPR should launch an expanded training program for relevant officers. This will take care of the capacity deficit and will also ensure sufficient awareness of the rules and their universal applicability. Appropriate staff strength in Administrative Departments/Accounts Offices needs to be provided for pension matters.

- vi) Verification of qualifying service most important/essential factor: Head of Deptt/Office responsible in case of BS.1-15 officials, must ensure that prescribed procedure of verifying qualifying service at a particular time each year and recording necessary entries in service book of official is followed and got confirmed from Accounts office after 10 years, 25 years and before retirement of the government servant.
- vii) The Accounts Offices are responsible to compile History of Services of BS16-22 officers. They must keep them up-to-date. Accounts offices send a list of officials retiring in next six month/one year to department concerned, and to the other relevant Accounts Offices to ensure that missing periods in history of service, if any, are completed before the retirement of an officer.
- viii) **Grant of Anticipatory pension a mandatory provision:** Sub-section (4) of Section 19 of Civil Servant Act 1973 requires that when a government servant's pension is likely to be delayed beyond 30 days of his retirement/death, action shall be taken for grant of anticipatory pension; however, this mandatory provision is rarely followed. Head of Department, Accounts Office must follow this provision. In case of delay, anticipatory pension should be allowed as provided under the rules.

Instructions issued vide Finance Division's No. F.ii(2)Reg-6/2022, dated 25.11.2002 need to be kept in view: "Administrative as well as audit and accounts authorities must exercise the power to sanction anticipatory pension, whenever required, to avoid any delay in the payment of pension".

- ix) Further simplification of existing pension application form and procedures need to be done to avoid the delay in processing of pension papers.
- x) Providing No Objection Certificate (NOC), No Demand Certificate (NDC) should be the responsibility of Administrative Departments. Pension should not be held up on account of disciplinary proceedings/audit

- paras/NOC/NDC except for personal recoveries on account of Pay, Allowances and Advances.
- xi) Wafaqi Mohtasib may award compensation to the aggrieved retired civil servant for the period of delay in payment of pension and commutation in terms of Article-22 of President's Order No.1 of 1983. In addition, disciplinary action be initiated against officials responsible for delays in processing pension cases in the department, Accounts Office or the paying bank.
- xii) Accounts Offices should not start, at the time of retirement, re-calculation of pay fixation from day one of service. However, they may re-open only those few cases which are of doubtful nature.
- xiii) Since pension is exempt from income tax, government may exempt withdrawals from bank account of pensioners to the extent of amount of pension from levy of withholding tax.
- xiv) Where the sanction of family pension is likely to be delayed, the Department shall sanction provisional payment of family pension.
- xv) An orderly transition to Direct Credit System (DCS) to be made.
- xvi) Delay in re-imbursement of medical expenses is a cause of financial hardship to the pensioner. Medical re-imbursement to be made promptly, preferably within one month of presentation of claim by the pensioner. Government may consider adapting best practices as in place in certain autonomous bodies e.g., PTV.
- xvii) National Bank of Pakistan (NBP) and disbursing Banks to ensure prompt payment as per authorization and reconcile payments with authorizing office. They must also ensure that no delays occur in sending Disburser's Half to Accounts Offices in case of family pension.

- xviii) National Bank of Pakistan (NBP) to take special measures for ensuring payments exactly in terms of pension entitlements and increases allowed by Government from time to time and investigate the cases of overpayments/under-payments referred to at Para-26 above.
- xix) Special Counters in Banks during the pension payment days should be opened on a regular basis.
- to different steps described in Manual of Pension Procedures. These, alongwith TORs/job description of Pension Welfare Officer, was examined by Finance Division, AGPR and Establishment Division on the direction of the Committee. The Committee approved their recommendations for adoption by the Ministries / Divisions / Departments.
- All retirees be required to give particulars of eligible family member (and an alternate if that member pre-deceases the retiree) to whom family pension may be transferred. The nomination may be confirmed/reviewed by the pensioner every year.
- xxii) A system of on-line verification of Last Pay Certificate (LPC) and service statement, related to other accounts office, needs to be introduced in order to avoid delay in finalization of pension cases because of non-availability/non-verification of these documents.
- xxiii) Demand for allowing joint accounts in Direct Credit System (DCS) needs to be considered.
- xxiv) Government may consider giving to the pensioner copy of his Pension Payment Order (PPO) bearing stamp, "Not valid for payment only for pensioner's identity", or alternatively, the Accounts Office may issue a pension card to the pensioner containing his relevant particulars.

41. CONCLUSION

- i. Facts of the case and their analysis given above indicate that problems of pensioners continue not only on account of inadequacy of rules but also due to the lack of effective enforcement mechanism for implementation of the guidelines and time-lines laid down by the Government. For example, verification of qualifying service is the most important/essential factor in the determination of pension which is often found wanting at the time of retirement. Like-wise, adhering to the time-lines for initiation/processing of pension cases is critical for timely payment of pension but more often the Departments lag behind the prescribed schedule in completing pension papers. In order to cope with this fundamental problem, the level of supervisory checks and reviews need to be up-graded, structured and institutionalized.
- ii. Although there is no doubt about efficacy of institutional reforms in bringing about the desired results, there is a need for strict and timely accountability to hold people accountable for delay in providing pension in a timely manner. This is, after all, a basic right of retiring officials.
- iii. Comprehensive recommendations have been formulated to address substantive issues both in process and implementation. These should go a long way in resolving the issue of delays being faced by a large number of pensioners.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

- 1. We are grateful to Honorable Wafaqi Mohtasib (Ombudsman) for providing us the motivation to take up this study. His constant reminders to 'work with passion' was a source of inspiration during completion of the assignment.
- 2. The following Officers of the Ministries/Divisions/Departments were associated with the Committee during its deliberations in all its meetings.
 - i. Mr. M. Khurshid Anwar Shah, Joint Secretary (Regulation), Ministry of Finance, Islamabad.
 - iii. Dr. Masood Akhtar Ch, J.S., Establishment Division, Islamabad.
 - v. Mr. Shakil Ahmed, Director (Admn), WMS, Islamabad.
 - vii. Mr. M. Zahid, Deputy Director (P&A) Pakistan Post Office, Islamabad.

- **ii.** Mr. Muhammad Yahya, D.G.(P.R), AGPR, Islamabad.
- iv. Dr. Muhammad Saeed, F.A. & CAO, Pakistan Railways.
- vi. Mr. Muhammad Rehan Naqvi, Assistant Director (Legal), FDE, Islamabad.

Besides, Mr. M. Farooq, Executive Vice President, NBP, Karachi, Mr. Mukhtar Ahmed, Vice President/G.M. Operation NBP, Islamabad and Representatives of Association for Welfare of the Retired Persons (AWRP) also participated. The Committee acknowledges their useful contribution, which helped the Committee in better understanding of the issues and in better awareness of the ground realities.

3. Special thanks are due to Mr. Muhammad Yahya, D.G., Accountant General Pakistan Revenues, Mr. Khurshid Anwar Shah, Joint Secretary, Finance Division and Dr. Masood Akhtar Ch, Joint Secretary, Establishment Division for giving very useful input as and when needed by the Committee and for spending extra hours to carry out the tasks assigned to them by the Committee.

- 4. Mr. Agha Nadeem, Senior Advisor, deserves special gratitude for positively responding to our call and providing a useful analysis of pension cases received by Wafaqi Mohtasib (Ombudsman)'s Secretariat.
- 5. My personal staff, Mr. Muhammad Sarwar Khan and Mr. Muhammad Saeed, need special mention for their un-failing support during all meetings of the Committee and in writing of the Report.
- 6. Last but not the least is the all important work of the Report Writing by a team comprising Mr. Asif Usman Khan, Mr. Naimatullah Abid and the undersigned. The work was done under the guidance and supervision of Chairman of the Committee Mr. Tanwir Ali Agha to whom we are greatly indebted.

(Muhammad Ayub Khan Tarin) Member/Secretary Pension Committee

ANNEXURES

RESPONSES OF THE MINISTRIES/DIVISIONS/DEPARTMENTS TO THE QUESTIONNAIRE

A - I

F. No. 6(41)/B&A/2011-1154 Government of Pakistan Finance Division HRM Wing (B&A Section) ***

Islamabad, the 17th December, 2015

Mr. Muhammad Ayub Khan Tarin, Senior Advisor / Secretary, Wafaqi Mohtasib (Ombudsman)'s Secretariat, 36-Constitution Avenue, G-5/2, Islamabad.

SUBJECT: RESPONSE TO THE QUESTIONAIRE ON PENSION RELATED ISSUES.

Reference Wafaqi Mohtasib's letter No. PS/Sr.Advisor/2015 dated 06.10.2015 and reminder of even number dated 07.12.2105 on the subject cited above.

- 2. The requisite information/reply of questions in annotated form is enclosed as desired please.
- This issues with the approval of JS (HRM).

(Ahmed Nawaz Chohan)
Section Officer (B&A)

SUBJECT:

QUESTIONAIRE FOR THE MINISTRIES / DIVISIONS / DEPARTMENTS EXPENDITURE PROCESSING AND FINALIZATION OF PENSION PAPERS.

	True at	
i	Whether measures are in place to ensure that a retiring government servant begins to receive his	, procedure for Sabinission of
		pension cases to AGPR are fully adhered to and an
	pension on the date on which it becomes due?	processed / submitted with in the due dates to
		ensure that pensioner may get his pensionar
		benefits as early as possible.
ii	Are arrangements in place to ensure that service	All arrangements are in place to ensure that
	record i.e. history of services / service books of all	service record i.e. history of all services / services
	government servants are kept upto date and	book of non-gazetted staff are kept upto date and
	complete?	complete. However, history of service of a gazetted
		Government servant is maintained by the Accounts
		office concerned.
iii	Is verification of qualifying service done in respect of	HR Wing regularly maintains Service Books and
	all government servants by the departments and got	gets verified from AGPR in respect of BS 01-15 as
	verified from the Audit Office as per laid down	per rules to ensure qualifying services of officers /
	procedure and schedule?	120-45-20
		officials.
iv	Is the Division / Department regularly maintaining a	Yes. Relevant HR Sections regularly maintains a list
	list showing the dates of retirement of all their	showing the dates of birth and dates of retirement
	officers and staff who are due to retire in a calendar	of the officers and officials who are due to retire in
	year and review it quarterly?	a calendar year and are reviewed on quarterly
		basis.
/	What human resource is deployed exclusively on	Two officials are deputed exclusively to prepare
	pension work?	and forward complete pension cases of
		officers/officials of Finance Division (Main) to AGPR
		Islamabad.
i	What is the level of focal person to supervise pension	Section Officer (BS-17/18)
	work and liaise with Audit Office / other Department?	

1
22
Jap 3
1

vii	Do the Division / Departments strictly adhere to the	Yes, the given time lines are adhered by HRM Wing			
	time lines laid down for initiation of pension cases?	for initiation of Pension cases.			
viii	What follow-up mechanism do the Departments have, to check progress of pension papers / cases till their completion and final payment to the retiring government servants? Does the Department maintain a list of family members eligible to receive family pension?	pension cases. However no formal communication of completion of cases are given, now a days by AGPR to the concerned Ministry / Division/ Departments.			
X	Does the department have a system to cater to family pension cases in a timely manner?	Yes			
xi	What is the number of government servants retiring	Years	No. of Govt. Servants Retired		
	within one year (current year & last 3 years data)?	2012	42		
		2013	43		
		2014	39		
		2015	36		
xii	What is the stage of computerization for up-dating service record of the employees?	The service record of the gazetted officers are maintained by the audit office concerned while the service record of the non-gazetted employees is maintained in the concerned HR Sections.			
xiii	What arrangement is in place to maintain up dated instructions relating to pension?	Relevant rules / regulations including fresh amendments in rules and instructions are kept in current file for prompt compliance / adherence.			

A - II

GOVERNMENT OF PAKISTAN CABINET SECRETARIAT ESTBALISHMENT DIVISION

3 (B3)A) 14

No. 3/37/2015-Admn-I

Islamabad, the 16th December, 2015

Subject:- RESPONSE OF THE QUESTIONAIRE ON PENSIONER RELATED

ISSUES

Reference Honourable Wafaqi Mohtasib (Ombudsman)'s Office letter No. PS/Sr.Advisor/2015, dated 7th December, 2015 on the subject noted above.

The response on the subject is enclosed herewith.

Encl: A.A

(Muhammad Shahid Dayo) Deputy Secretary (Admn-I)

Senior Advisor/Secretary Wafaqi Mohtasib (Ombudsman)'s Office Islamabad.

RESPONSE TO QUESTIONNARE ON PENSION RELATED ISSUES.

- i. On Finance Division's instructions, Welfare Officer has been nominated for coordination with sections concerned and retiring government servants for expeditious processing of pension cases as per instructions contained in Manual of Pension Procedure. Job description of Welfare Officer is at Annex-I.
- Section Officer Cash brings a team of AGPR to establishment Division for verification of service books as soon as there is change in pay arising out of increments or revision of pay scales.
- iii. As at para-ii above.
- iv. Welfare Officer appointed has been entrusted with the task and exercise is underway and likely to be completed in a couple of days.
- v. Welfare Officer with one Assistant, LDC and Naib Qasid have been entrusted with the task which is likely to result in improved pace of disposal of pension cases.
- vi. DS(Admn-I) under whose supervision Welfare Officer and Section Officers dealing with administrative matters of officers and staff supervises pension work and for liaison with Audit Office, Section Officer Cash and DS(Admn-II) work in coordinated manner.
- vii. With the scheme of Welfare Officer and clearly defined tasks, timeliness will be ensured and in one or two quarters results will become available to assess performance and areas for improvement.
- viii. Section Officer Cash and one of staff of that section personally follow up with AGPR and bring the matter to personal attention of DS Admn for prompt removal of observations if any.
- ix. The job description of Welfare Officer caters for this aspect.
- x. Yes, and with Welfare Officer Scheme the system is likely to function more effectively and efficiently.
- xi. The number of government servants of this Division retiring within one year are 13 and those retired during last three years are 52 retired.
- xii. All updated instructions are obtained from Finance Division and AGPR and kept on record to enable processing of complete cases.

Facilitation Measures for Pensioners

Job Description of Welfare Officer i.e Section Officer (Comm)

Working under the supervision of DS(Admn-I) and in close liaison with the concerned sections which administratively control the service matters of retiring government servants, the Welfare officer i.e. Section Officer (Comm) shall ensure and certify under intimation to DS(Admn-II) and JS(Admn) on a quarterly basis that the concerned sections;

- In accordance with instructions at Sr. No. 53 of Manual of Pension Procedure maintain progress sheets as per Annex-I.
- ii. In accordance with instructions at Sr. No. 54 of Manual of Pension Procedure action specified at stage-I begin one year before the date of retirement of employees and further ensure that timelines with regard to stage-II to Stage-V are also adhered to (Annex-II)
 - To this end the Welfare Officer will ensure that the sections prepare a basic list containing name of retiring government servant, post held, date of birth and expected date of retirement in respect of all employees.
 - O Such a list will be put up for information of Joint secretary (Admn) on a monthly basis.
- iii. Instructions issued by AGPR (Annex-III) regarding documents required for completion of pension case are issued to government servant concerned one month before stage-I approaches
- iv. In accordance with instructions at Sr. No. 92 of Manual of Pension Procedure take steps for expeditious disposal of pension cases and check delays and report matter to JS (Admn)'s notice immediately.
- v. DS (Admn-I) along with pension team i.e. Welfare Officer and Section Officers (Admn) concerned shall submit a report to JS(Admn) after every three months on 1st April, 1st July, 1st September, 1st January about progress made in timely disposal of pension cases along with identification of issues and solutions to overcome the same.
- vi. Seek and place on personal file a list of family members issued by NADRA at least one year before the date of retirement of government servant. The government servant shall also be asked to ensure that any change in family member list-is brought to Admn notice promptly.
- vii. Training/Orientation sessions of concerned officers dealing with pension matters will be arranged in consultation with AGPR and CF&AO Office of Division on a need basis.

OFFICE OF THE FINANCIAL ADVISOR AND CHIEF ACCOUNTS OFFICER PAKISTAN RAILWAYS HQ. OFFICE LAHORE

No.Pen/HQ/Misc/WM Compl/2015.

Dated .12.2015.

P.R. HO Office, Lahore.

Mr. Muhammad Ayub Khan Tareen, Senior Advisor/Secretary, Wafaqi Mohtasib (Ombudsman)' Secretariat, 36-Constitution Avenue, G-5/2, Islamabad.

Subject:

Response to the Questionaire on Pension related issues.

Reference: Your letter No.PS/Sr.Advisor/2015. Dated 07.12.2015.

Kindly refer to your above cited letter on the above noted subject,

The parawise reply of the questionnaire sent herewith for information and necessary action.

This issue with the approval of FA & CAO/PR

DA/As Above.

QUESTIONNAIRE FOR THE MINISTRIES/ DIVISIONS/DEPARTMENTS Subject: EXPEDITIOUS, PROCESSING AND FINALIZATION OF PENSION PAPERS

1. What measures are in place to ensure that a retiring government servant begins to receive his pension on the date on which it becomes due?

Answer: Following measures have been taken by the Railway Administration in order to ensure that the retiring government servants begin to receive his pension on date on which it becomes due:

Issuance of Notification

 Notifications of superannuation of employees are being issued one year in advance.

> Finalization of disciplinary actions

- All the concerned offices have been directed to complete disciplinary actions if, any against the Railways employees one year before the date of superannuation.
- In case of failure the concerned inquiry officers will be held responsible.

- Ensure the Recoveries

- As a routine recovery statement of the railways employees on various accounts such as HBA, MCA, CA etc are being verified before the preparation of pension papers.
- In order to strengthen the Internal Controls necessary directives have been issued to ensure the proper recoveries well before time so that the employee should not be over burdened at the end of his service

Furnishing No Demand Certificate 06 months before the expected date of Superannuation

 The concerned offices have been directed to furnish no demand certificates on account of all utility bills and advances 06 months before superannuation

> Calculation of Rent Statement by estate officer / property and land officer

 CEO has issued directive to the directorate of property and land to ensure the compliance in order to reduce the hardships of retiring employees.

Issuance of Last Pay Certificate

- Concerned personnel officers have strictly been directed to issue the last pay certificate 15 days before the date of superannuation / retirement
- Concerned DAOs and accounting units have also been directed to verify the LPC within 03 days of receipt from personnel branch

Issuance of Pro by Accounts Officer

 Accounts officer Pension have been directed to issue pension payment order (PPO) within 07 days and ensure that the retiring employee may receive cheque on the date of his retirement



2. Are arrangements in place to ensure that service record i.e. history of service/service books of all government servants are kept up-to date and complete?

Answer: UPDATE THE SERVICE RECORD OF THE EMPLOYEES

 In order to update the service record of all employees of Pakistan Railways Seven column Performa has been developed and circulated to the concerned offices for strict compliance, The Performa is as under:-

Name of employee With Employee No.	Father's Name	Date of Birth	Date of Appointment	Designation (BPS)	Department	Date of Superannuation
---	------------------	---------------------	------------------------	----------------------	------------	---------------------------

 Computerization of Salary Bills is in process in the different divisions of Pakistan Railways which will include the above data at system which will up-date the service record of the employee.

Verification of service

- All the concerned offices have been directed to verify the service of all employees after the completion of 10 and 24 years of their active service and the progress is being monitored.
- It is hoped that the process will be completed within one year.

Verification of service by Audit / Accounts offices

- All the DAOs and other accounting units have also been directed to verify the service within 03 to 07 days of the receipt of fixations.
- 3. Is verification of qualifying service done in respect of all Government Servants by the Departments and got verified from the Audit office as per laid down procedure and schedule?

Answer: Yes, concrete steps have been taken by the Railway Administration as already mentioned in the answer of Question No. 2 the work is still in progress and is being monitored at the headquarter level and almost 70 percent job is done and the remaining will be completed by the end of this Financial Year.

4. Is the Division/Department regularly maintaining a list showing the dates of retirement of all their officers and staff who are due to retire in a calendar year and renew it quarterly?

Answer: Yes, system is in place at Divisional level and Headquarter level to notify the list of officers and officials retiring in the next calendar year by the end of December and review the list in the case of death of the Officer / Officials during that calendar year.

5. What human resource is developed exclusively on pension work?

Answer: 20% of the on-roll strength of the Personnel and Accounts office is exclusively deployed on the pension work.

Littutures

6. What is the level of focal person to supervise pension work and liaise with Audit office / other departments?

Answer: At the divisional level Divisional Superintendent and Divisional Accounts Officer have been nominated as focal persons to coordinate with other concerned departments for the early finalization of pension papers of the retiring employee while at the headquarter level Chief Personnel Officer and Financial Advisor & Chief Accounts Officer / Pakistan Railways perform same job as focal persons.

7. Do the divisions/departments strictly adhere to the timelines laid down for initiation of pension case?

Answer: All the concerned offices have been directed to implement the recommendation of your good office in letter and spirit with the remarks that any deviation from the lay down procedure will be view seriously and ac n will be taken against the responsible officers and officials.

8. What follow-up mechanism do the departments have, to check progress of pension papers/cases till their completion and final payment to the retiring government servants?

Answer: Welfare office under the guidance of DS and DAO at the Divisional level and CPO and FA&CAO/PR at headquarter level coordinates for the early finalization of pension cases

9. Does the department maintain a list of family members eligible to receive family pension?

Answer: Yes. With each pension case the list of family members eligible to receive family pension is included in the "Certificate of Identity" which remains the part of the pension record.

10. Does the department have a system to cater to family pension cases in a timely manner?

Answer: Welfare offices have been established in the each Divisional Office in order to facilitate the claims of employees and pensioners after the death of the employees and the pensioners as and when intimated to the concerned welfare offices by the legal heirs pension papers are prepared on emergent basis.

11. What is the number of government servants retiring within one year (current year & last 03 years data)?

Answer: Average Government Servants retiring in a Calendar Year are approximately 3100 to 3200. The list of the data from 01-07-2013 to 30-06-2015 has already been provided to your good office.

Julietilish

12. What is the stage of computerization for up-dating service record of the employees?

Answer: After the computerization of pay and updation of the employee data which is under process it is hoped that the delay in the disposal of pension cases will not occur.

13. What arrangement is in place to maintain up-dated instructions relating to pension?

Answer: At headquarter level policy sections are responsible to maintain and circulate the updated policy related to pension to the all Divisional and extra Divisional Offices.

Just Esterch

PAKISTAN POST OFFICE OF THE DIRECTOR GENERAL PAKISTAN POST

No. Law. 1-8/2015

Dated at Islamabad, 14-01-2016

Subject:

RESPONSE TO THE QUESTIONAIRE ON PENSION RELATED ISSUES.

Reference to your office letter No. PS/ Sr. Advisor/2015 dated 07-12-2015 on the above noted subject.

 Please find enclosed herewith reply to the questionnaire for further action at your end.

Encls: As above.

Mr. Muhammad Ayub Khan Tarin, Senior Advisor / Secretary,

Wafaqi Muhtasib Secretariat, 36-Constitution Avenue, G-5/2,

Islamabad.



EXPEDITIOUS PROCESSING AND FINALIZATION OF PENSION PAPERS

Sr. No.	Questionnaire	Answer
i)	What measures are in place to ensure that a retiring government servant begins to receive his pension on the date on which it becomes due?	It is submitted that timelines to clear the pension cases are specified in various Govt letters / instructions. Therefore officials dealing with the pension matters of their respective employees strictly adhere to these time lines so that a retiring government servant begins to receive his pension on the date it becomes due.
ii)	Are arrangements in place to ensure that service record i.e. History of Service / Service Books of all government servants are kept upto date and complete?	So far as this department employees are concerned, it is stated that necessary arrangements are in place to ensure that service record i.e. service books of all Govt servants are kept upto date and completed in all respects.
iii)	Is verification of qualifying service done in respect of a government servants by the Departments and got verified from the Audit Office as per laid down procedure and schedule?	It is the responsibility of Administration to get the needful done in respect of their respective employees. So far as Postal employees are concerned, it is stated that a comprehensive system is in place for verification of their service from Accounts /Audit.
iv)	Is the Division / Department regularly maintaining a list showing officer and staff who are due to retire in a calendar year and review in quarterly?	Record showing the dates of retirement in respect of officers / officials of this department who are due to retire in calendar year is mentioned. Master Data base of employees linked with payroll also contains columns of date of birth and date of superannuation. Hence system based monthly and yearly reports of retiring employees are also generated. Officers / personnel of respective offices are responsible to maintain such data.
v)	What human resources is deployed exclusively on pension work?	The Director of Accounts is responsible for pension work. The responsibilities for grant of pension, payment of commutation, authorization of increases, postal audit of pension paid vouchers, pensioners' database and redressal of complaints of the pensioners are strictly performed.
vi)	What is the level of focal person to supervise pension work and liaise with Audit office other Department?	The DA PPO is the focal person to supervise the pension work and liaise with the respective regional circle offices and Headquarters.
vii)	Do the Division/ Departments strictly adhere to the time-lines laid down for initiation of pension cases?	Most of pension claims are received within the time lines. However, in certain cases delay occur due to certain unavoidable reasons, which are also dealt on priority.
viii)	What follow-up mechanism do the departments have, to check progress of pension papers / cases tell their completion and final payment to the retiring government servants?	So far as pension cases of retired employees are concerned, the same are submitted to pension office three months before the retirement of any Govt. Employees.

ix)	Does the department maintain a list of family members eligible to receive family pension?	List of eligible heirs is maintained in service books / sheet rolls of the concerned officers / officials by the concerned authorities.			
x)	Does the Department have a system to cater to family pension cases in a timely manner?	Offices immediately process the cases of family pension on receipt from concerned authorities and finalize it in minimum possible time.			
xi)	What a number of government servants retiring within one year (current year & last 03 years)?	 a) Detail of Postal employees retired during last three years is as under:- 			
		2012-13	2013-14	2014-15	
		623	648	665	
xii)	What is the stage of computerization for up-dating service record of the employees?	The record of Pay / GP Fund in respect of employees of DG office is being maintained on computer and rest of the record is maintained manually.			
xiii)	What arrangement is in place to maintain up-dated instructions relating to pension?	Yearly Master files containing Government orders / instructions in shape of IOs (Instructional Orders) is prepared and maintained by this office.			

A - V F.1-5/2014-(PP) FDE Government of Pakistan Federal Directorate of Education Islamabad 18th January, 2016. The Senior Advisor/Secretary, Wafaqi Mohtasib (Ombudsman)'s Secretariat Islamabad. RESPONSE TO THE QUESTIONAIRE PENSION RELATED ISSUES. Subject: -Your letter PS/Sr-Advisor/2015 dated 11-01-2016 Reference Kindly refer to your above cited letter on the above noted subject. The para-wise reply of the questionnaire sent herewith for information and necessary. action. This is issued with the approval of Director (Admin). 2. ED HAQAT HUSSAIN BOKHARI) CASSISTANT DIRECTOR (PENSION & PACKAGE) Copy to: -The Deputy Director Male, Female, Colleges, Model Colleges, Admin. P.S. to Director General (Education). A.P.S. to Director (Admin). Office file.

(SYED LIAQAT HUSSAIN BOKHARI)
ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (PENSION & PACKAGE)

Federal Directorate of Education (PENSION & PACKAGE SECTION)

FECT:

EXPEDITIOUS PROCESSING AND FINALIZATION OF PENSION PAPERS.

S.#	QUESIONNAIRE	ANSWER		
i.	What measures are in place to ensure that a retiring government servant begin to receive his pension on the date on which it becomes due.	section has been established in Feb. 2015 and the allied institutions (422) in city		
ii.	An arrangements in place to ensure that service record i.e. History of Service/Service Books of all Government servants are kept upto date and complete.	The allied institutions (422) in city & (Federal Area)/local administration sections have been advised to up date the service record of employees with consultation of AGPR's Ibd.		
iii.	Is verification of qualifying service done in respect of all government servants by the Departments and got verified from the Audit Office as per laid down procedure and schedule.	Yes automation of relevant records is under way.		
iv.	Is the Division/Department regularly maintaining a list showing the dates of retirement of all their officers in a calendar year and review it quarterly.	The methodology as advised is being followed. However the pension and packages section has been established to ensure its compliance.		
٠. ١	What human resource is deployed exclusively on pension work?	The pension & package section has been established and requisite staff has too been posted in Feb. 2015:- i) Director ii) Deputy Director iii) Assistant Director iv) Administrative Officer v) Assistant		

计计	QUESIONNAIRE	ANSWER			
vi.	What is the level of focal person to supervise pension work and liaise with Audit Office/other Department?	1			
Vii.	Do the Division/Departments Strictly adhere to the time- lines laid down for initiation of pension cases?	best hardship finaliza particu cases w arrival	to ride ps faci ation of larly in thich raise of cates and	over the over the ing towards pension cases family pensioned due to late succession limitations	
viii.	What follow-up mechanism do the Departments have to check progress of pension papers/cases till their completion and final payment to the retiring government servants?	process the arrived cases duly routed through pension &			
ix.	Does the Department maintain a list of family members eligible to receive family pension?	lying with the institutions			
х.	What is number of government servants retiring within one year (current year & last 03-years)?	sections	d by t s/institut: d is as und		
		Years	Persons	Remarks	
	4 400 Gen 4 400	2013 120		Sudden death cases are	
	2		115	excluded	
\		2015	122		
1		2016	125		
xi.	What is the stage of computerization for up-dating service record of the employees?		oncern s ions-progre	sections and ss is under	
xii.	What arrangement is in place to maintain up-dated instructions relating to pension?	In this regard the Department had already established pension & packages Section.			

GOVERNMENT OF PAKISTAN REVENUE DIVISION FEDERAL BOARD OF REVENUE

C.No.6(20)Coord/2015.

Islamabad, the December, 2015.

OFFICE MEMORANDUM

Subject:- RESPONSE TO THE QUESTIONAIRE ON PENSION RELATED ISSUES.

The undersigned is directed to refer to the Wafaqi Mohtasib (Ombudsman)'s Secretariat D.O. No.PS/Sr.Advisor/2015, dated 6th October, 2015 on the above subject and to enlose reply on questionnaire on pension related issues in respect of FBR as desired.

(Surhaira Muneeb) Second Secretary (Coord)

Wafaqi Mohtasib (Ombudsman)'s Secretariat, (Mr. Muhammad Ayub Khan Tarin, Senior Advisor/Secretary), 36-Constitution Avenue, G-5/2, Islamabad

UESTIONAIRE FOR THE MINISTRIES/DIVISION/DEPARTMENTS.

Subject:- EXPEDIOUS PROCESSING AND FINALIZATION OF PENSION PAPERS.

S.#	Questionnaire	Answer
i.	What measures are in place to ensure that a retiring government servants beings to receive his pension on the date on which it becomes dues.	Notification/Office Order is issued well before the retirement dated i.e. at least 6 months in advance so that the official is able to prepare his/her pension papers etc, well in time and get his/her pension on the date on which it becomes due.
ii.	Are arrangements in place to ensure that service record i.e. History of Services Books of all government servants are kept upto date and complete?	Yes
iii.	Is verification of qualifying services done in respect of all government servants by the Departments and got verified from the Audit Office as per laid down procedure and schedule?	Yes, most of services Books are verified by the audit Officer.
iv	Is the Division/Department regularly maintaining a list showing the dates of retirement of all their Officers and staff who are due to retire in a calendar year and review it quarterly?	Yes
v.	What Human resource is deployed exclusively on pension work.	All the staff members of Section are deputed as and when it is required.
vi.	What is the level of focal person to supervise pension work and liaise with audit office/other department?	DDO, FBR is handling the case of pension papers of FBR employees and keeping liaison with AGPR and other relevant departments.
vii	Do the Divisions/departments strictly adhere to the time-lines laid down for initiation of pension cases?	Yes
viii.	What follow up mechanism do the Departments have to check progress of pension papers/cases till their completion and final payment to the retiring government servants?	DDO FBR keeps a check on the progress of pension papers/cases till their completion and final payment to the retiring/retired government servants.
ix	Does the Department maintain a list of family members eligible to receive family pension?	Yes
х.	Does the Department have a system to cater to family pension cases in a timely manner?	Yes
xi	What is the number of Government servants retiring within one year (current year & last 03 years data)?	Retiring 22+22+02=46 Retired 150+1171+19=1340
xii.	What is the stage of computerization for updating service record of the employees?	The data of officers from BS-17 to BS-22 is fully updated/computerized. However, the data of staff is approximately 80% updated/computerized. Efforts are being made to finalize the already initiated task at the earliest.
xiii.	What arrangement is in place to maintain up- dated instructions relating to pension	Pension papers are being maintained according to instructions laid down by the Government of Pakistan.

DRAFT MINUTES OF THE MEETING ON FACILITATION MEASURE FOR PENSIONERS.

The Auditor General of Pakistan made a presentation to Mr. Muhammad Ishaq Dar, Minister for Finance, Revenue, Economic Affairs, Statistics and Privatization, on facilitation measures for pensioners on 16th October 2015. The meeting was attended by the following:

1.	Rana Assad Amin	Auditor General of Pakistan
2.	Dr. Waqar Masood Khan	Secretary Finance
3.	Mr. Asif Ali	Controller General of Accounts
4.	Mr. Javaid Jehangir	Addl. Auditor General – I
5.	Mrs. Shagufta Khanum	Addl. Auditor General - II
6.	Mr. Tariq Mahmood Pasha	Addl/SA to Finance Minister
7.	Mr. Ghazanfar Abbas Jillani	Deputy Auditor General (AcP)
8.	Hafiz Muhammad Tahir	Accountant General of Pakistan Revenue
9.	Mr. Awias Manzoor	Joint Secretary to Finance Minister
10	. Muhammad Khurshid Anwer Shah	Joint Secretary (Regulation) Finance Division

- 2. The Auditor General of Pakistan highlighted the problems and perceptions of the pensioners along with concerns of Accounts Offices, Banks and the Executive. The Auditor General of Pakistan presented proposals of the Pension Reforms and Facilitation Committee for consideration and approval of the Federal Minister for Finance, Revenue, Economic Affairs, Statistics and Privatization. The Honorable Minister expressed his concerns about the pitfalls of the existing system, inconvenience to the pensioners and ghost pensioners.
- 3. After detailed deliberations, the following measures were approved by the Federal Minister for Finance, Revenue, Economic Affairs, Statistics and Privatization for speedy implementation:

1691

S.No	Proposal	Decision	Action
1.	Accounts Offices to generate quarterly computerized list of superannuating officers/official and send to Executive for initiating pension process	Approved	Controller General of Accounts to implement the decision with immediate effect
2.	DCS to be made mandatory for all the existing Pensioner (existing Gasetlee Pensioners) (BS-17 + 3S-22) by 31st march **	Approved	Finance Division to issue instructions immediately for implementation of decision w.e.f
3.	Simplification of pension forms	Approved -	Controller General of Accounts to prepare case for soliciting approval of the simplified pension forms from Finance Division by 31st December, 2015
4.	Appointment of Welfare Officers in all Divisions / Ministries for facilitation of pensioners	Approved	Finance Division to issue instructions to all Divisions/Ministries for appointment of Welfare Officers in each Division / Ministries by 31st December, 2015
	Development of Pension Management Information System (PMIS) and its integration with SAP System	Approved	Controller General of Accounts to prepare a strategy paper for introduction of integrated

Lorrigancium housed by cago Lorrigancium housed by cago Lorrigancium housed by cago Autro 9-12-15.

			Pension Payment Information System involving all stakeholders and submit to Finance Division by 31st December 2015
6.	Banks and Pakistan Post to redress pensioner grievances, establish special counters for pensioners, facilitate conversion to DCS, generate system alerts in cases where life certificate/ non-marriage certificate is not received for six months and block payments	Approved	Finance Division to issue instructions to all Banks and Pakistan Post for taking measures for pensioners facilitation and improvement in disbursement system by 31st December, 2015

4. The Minister for Finance, Revenue, Economic Affairs, Statistics and Privatization numeluded the meeting after appreciating the system reform initiatives being taken by Auditor General of Pakistan, Controller General of Accounts and the Pension Reforms and Facilitation Committee.



Most Imr By Special Mess

GOVERNMENT OF PAKISTAN CABINET SECRETARIAT ESTABLISHMENT DIVISION

<><><>

Subject:

MINUTES OF THE 5TH & FINAL MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE TO CONDUCT STUDY OF PENSION SYSTEM OF THE ENTIRE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT AGENCIES.

Para 3 (xi) of Minuts of subject meeting refers.

- 2. In the said meeting Joint Secretary (Admn), Establishment Division was entrusted with the task of holding a meeting with Joint Secretary (R) and Director General Pakistan Revenues to evolve consensus regarding universal applicability of Forms/ Templates/SOP/Job Description devised by Establishment Division for facilitation of pensioners.
- 3. Accordingly a meeting was held on 18-02-2016 which was attended by following officers:
 - Mr. Muhammad Yahya,
 Director General Pakistan Revenue,
 AGPR, Islamabad
 - Mr. Muhammad Khurshid Anwar Shah, Joint Secretary (Regulations), Finance Division, Islamabad
 - iii. Dr. Masood Akhter Ch.Joint Secretary (Admn)Establishment Division, Islamabad
- 4. During the meeting the SOP/Job Description and Templates prepared by Establishment Division were reviewed and with some modifications the three members unanimously recommended to submit the same to Honourable Wafaqi Mohtasib to consider adoption by all Ministries/Divisions/ Departments/Sub-Officers etc so as to ensure uniformity of approach to facilitate pensioners (Annex-I).

(Muhammad Shahid Dayo) Deputy Secretary (Admn)

Wafaqi Mohtasib (Ombudsman)'s Secretariat, (Mr. Muhammad Ayub Khan Tarin), Senior Advisor/Secretary, Islamabad Estab. Division's U.O.No.3/37/2015-Admn-I dated 22nd February, 2016

STAGES RELATING TO PREPARATION AND DISPOSAL OF AN ORDINARY PENSION CASE Illustration: For example a Pensioner's Date of Birth is 01-04-1957 and his Date of Retirement is 31-03-2017

age	Step	Action	Due Date	Responsible	Initiated	Completed	Remarks
9.1		Seeking application from would be Pensioner for Retirement Notification/Office Order					
Pre-Stage	a	Pension Welfare Officer (PWO) and Admn Officer concerned shall consult excel data base of employees and inititate following action in cases where "DAYS TO RETIREMENT" are approx 400		WO(P) and Admn			172
	b	Admn will complete Service Book of those at Pre-Stage Step.1 and verify it	15-02-2016	Admn			
	С	Pension Welfare Officer (PWO) shall requisition Original Personal File alongwith Service Book (for Non-Gazetted from Admn Section) & Verified Service Statement from AGPR)	16-02-2016	WO(P) and Admn			
-	d	Admn will provide record within 3 days	20-02-2016	Admn			
	e	If Service Book is incomplte or suffers from deficiences, PWO shall personally get it completed from Admn	21-02-2016	WO(P) and Admn			
	f	Retrun of Personal File/ Service Book to PWO	25-02-2016	Admn			-
NE	VEAR	BEFORE THE DATE OF RETIREMENT					
DIVE	(i)	PWO shall start filling up of working copy of the Pension Application Form.	01-04-2016	WO(P)			
Stage.1	(ii)	In lisaon with Admn Section and DDO, PWO checks records to see whether any recoveries of Government dues are outstanding. (Sub Sr 6* Specimen of letter attached)	01-04-2016	WO(P) & Admn			
S	(iii)	PWO shall attach Progress Sheet above the file	01-04-2016	WO(P)			
Х	MONTH	IS BEFORE THE DATE OF RETIREMENT					
-		PWO shall write to would be pensionr to submit formal application (Sub Sr7* Specimen of letter, Application, Specimen Signature Form, Creation of Vendor Form & DCS Option Form attached)	01-10-2016	WO(P)			
_	(i)	Would be pensionr submits formal application	10-10-2016	Pensioner			
Stage.II	(ii)	PWO request the parties concerned for issue of "No Demand Certificate" (Sub Sr 8* letter & No Demand Certificate attached)	15-09-2016	Admn			
	(tii)	are the contraction of the contraction of the contraction of the	15-09-2016				
		No Demand Certificates returned to PWO	30-09-2016	Admn & Estat	e		

SIX T	O THRE	E MONTHS BEFORE THE DATE OF RETIREMENT				
=	(i)	PWO completes the pension papers for submission to sanctioning authority. (Sub Sr 10* Specimen of Letter attached)	30-10-2016	WO(P)		
Stage.III	(ii)	Sanctioning authority records orders/approval	05-11-2016	Competent Authority		
S	(Iii)	PWO forwards pesnion papers with Perogress Sheet to the Audit Office		WO(P)		
THRE	E MON	THS TO FORTNIGHT BEFORE THE DATE OF RETIREMENT				
>	(i)	Audit office checks the pension papers.	15-03-2017	AGPR		
Stage.IV	(ii)	Audit office issues the Pension Payment Order		AGPR		
Sta	(lii)	Allows anticipatory pension in case delay is likely to take place in finalization		AGPR		
AFTE	RTHEI	SSUE OF PPO				
	(i)	Audit office returns the Progress Sheet		AGPR		
>	(ii)	PWO sends Progress Sheet to DS (Admn-I) and JS(Admn) for information		WO(P)	1	
Stage.V		Hold simple ceremony to hand over Pension Payment Order to retiring officer / official	07-04-2017	Admn		_

^{*}Sub Sl. of Progress Sheet - Sl No. 53 of A Manual of Pension Procedure -

WO(P) means Wlefare Officer (Pension)

Facilitation Measures for Pensioners

Job Description of Welfare Officer i.e Section Officer (Comm)

Working under the supervision of DS(Admn-I) and in close liaison with the concerned sections which administratively control the service matters of retiring government servants, the Welfare officer i.e. Section Officer (Comm) shall ensure and certify under intimation to DS(Admn-II) and JS(Admn) on a quarterly basis that the concerned sections;

- i. In accordance with instructions at Sr. No. 53 of Manual of Pension Procedure maintain progress sheets as per Annex-I.
- ii. In accordance with instructions at Sr. No. 54 of Manual of Pension Procedure action specified at stage-I begin one year before the date of retirement of employees and further ensure that timelines with regard to stage-II to Stage-V are also adhered to (Annex-II)
 - To this end the Welfare Officer will ensure that the sections prepare a basic list containing name of retiring government servant, post held, date of birth and expected date of retirement in respect of all employees.
 - o Such a list will be put up for information of Joint secretary (Admn) on a monthly basis.
- iii. Instructions issued by AGPR (Annex-III) regarding documents required for completion of pension case are issued to government servant concerned one month before stage-I approaches
- iv. In accordance with instructions at Sr. No. 92 of Manual of Pension Procedure take steps for expeditious disposal of pension cases and check delays and report matter to JS (Admn)'s notice immediately.
- v. DS (Admn-I) along with pension team i.e. Welfare Officer and Section Officers (Admn) concerned shall submit a report to JS(Admn) after every three months on 1st April, 1st July, 1st September, 1st January about progress made in timely disposal of pension cases along with identification of issues and solutions to overcome the same.
- vi. Seek and place on personal file a list of family members issued by NADRA at least one year before the date of retirement of government servant. The government servant shall also be asked to ensure that any change in family member list-is brought to Admn notice promptly.
- vii. Training/Orientation sessions of concerned officers dealing with pension matters will be arranged in consultation with AGPR and CF&AO Office of Division on a need basis.

SL.53 OF A MANUAL ON PENSION PROCEDURE (Sub S.No.6)

One year before the expected date of retirement

Government of Pakistan Establishment Division (Cabinet Secretariat Block) ISLAMABAD

No. 3	33(1)/Gen/PWO/2016	01-04-2016
То,	The Section Officer (Cash)/DDO, Establishment Division, ISLAMABAD	
Subjec	t:-CHECKING OF RECORD TO SEE WHETHER ANY RI OF GOVERNMENT DUES ARE OUTSTANDING	ECOVERIES
Proced	Reference instructions contained at Sr No.53 of Manual lures (Copy enclosed).	on Pension
2.	It is informed that Mr	working
as	is going to be retired from Government	Service on
3.	As per above instructions it is required one year before date	of retirement
that re	cords may be checked to see whether any recoveries on account	of Govt dues
are out	standing against the above officer/official.	
4.	The above information may be furnished promptly within t	hree days by
1		
	Welfare Officer (P	ension)
Copy f	or information please:-	
	1. PS to Secy Estb, IBD 2. DS (Admn-I)	

SO (Admn-II)

3.

SL.53 OF A MANUAL ON PENSION PROCEDURE (Sub S.No.7)

Six months before the expected date of retirement

Government of Pakistan Establishment Division (Cabinet Secretariat Block) ISLAMABAD

No. 3	33(1)/G	en/PWO/2016	10-10-20	16
То,	The_			
			9.	
Subjec		AINING OF FORMAL APPLICATION FOR LD-BE PERNSIONER	PENSION	FROM
Proce		rence instructions contained at Sr No.53 of Ma Copy enclosed).	anual on l	Pension
2. Service		informed that you are going to be retired fr	om Gove	rnment
retirer	ocessin nent. In t	er above instructions application for grant of peng of pension case to be submitted six monthing regard you are requested to visit this permation/documents during working hours:-	s before	date of
	S.No.	Required Documents	atta	ments
	a.		Yes	
	b.	Application for Grant of Pension (Specimen of Application attached)	103	No
		Application for Grant of Pension (Specimen of Application attached) Photocopies of CNIC		No
	c.	(Specimen of Application attached)		No
	c.	(Specimen of Application attached) Photocopies of CNIC		No
		(Specimen of Application attached) Photocopies of CNIC Two Passport Size Photograph Form-B/Family members list issued by NADRA (Specimen of		No
	d.	(Specimen of Application attached) Photocopies of CNIC Two Passport Size Photograph Form-B/Family members list issued by NADRA (Specimen of Family members list attached) Bank Account No. Bank Name. Bank Branch with Branch Code &		No

Welfare Officer (Pension)

Copy for information please:1. PS to Secy Estb

- 2. DS (Admn-I)
- 3. SO (Admn-II)

SL.53 OF A MANUAL ON PENSION PROCEDURE (Sub S.No.7)

Six months before the expected date of retirement

	The Deputy Secretary (Admn-I)		
	Establishment Division,		
	ISLAMABAD		
ect:-	APPLICATION FOR GRANT OF PENSION		
	It is intimated that I am performing my dutie	es as	
	Formal Line		
)	since My date of birth as per my S	ervice	reco
	since My date of birth as per my S , thus I am retiring from Government Service w.e.f. ge of superannuation. Following documents are attached		
	, thus I am retiring from Government Service w.e.f.	d.	
	ge of superannuation. Following documents are attached	d.	
S.No.	ge of superannuation. Following documents are attached Required Documents	d.	men
S.No.	thus I am retiring from Government Service w.e.f. ge of superannuation. Following documents are attached Required Documents Photocopies of CNIC	d. Docu	men
S.No. a. b.	Required Documents Photocopies of CNIC Eight Passport Size Photograph	d. Docu	men
S.No. a. b. c.	Required Documents Photocopies of CNIC Eight Passport Size Photograph Form-B/Family members list issued by NADRA	d. Docu	men
S.No. a. b.	Required Documents Photocopies of CNIC Eight Passport Size Photograph	d. Docu	men
S.No. a. b. c.	Required Documents Photocopies of CNIC Eight Passport Size Photograph Form-B/Family members list issued by NADRA Bank Account No, Bank Name, Bank Branch with	d. Docu	men

Thanking you.

SPECIMEN SIGNATURE IN RESPECT OF MR HOLDING OF BANK ACCOUNT NO. NBP, MAIN BR. CIVIC CENTRE, ISLAMABAD **BANK MANAGER** 1. 2. 3.

LIST OF FAMILY MEMBERS OF THE EMPLOYEE/WIDOW

S. No	Name of Family Member	Relationship with Govt. Servant	Marital Status	Age / Profession	Income (if any)
				21 2	
	1				
					,
-					
				L g	
					5.0

Signature of Govt. Servant/Widow



VENDOR CREATION / UPDATION FORM FOR GOVT. SERVANTS / INDIVIDUALS

S, NO.	NAME OF EMPLOYEE/OWNER	BANK NAME	BANK BRANCH & CITY	BANK ACCOUNT NUMBER	Chic (NADRA)	PRE	SENT ADDRES	1	COST CENTERS DDO COCK	PERSONNEL NO.	VENDOR NO. ALLOTTE
	学们就为一个节节。		THE REPORT OF THE	SECTION AND ADDRESS OF THE PERSON AND ADDRES		STREET / MOHALL/				- 17	
1	1		4	5	6	7	8	9	10	- 11	12
1							-				
									-	_	_
2									- 22		
			-			-	-				
3											
			12								-
-14											
		1	· ·								
5											
	100					-					
6											
-											
7											
										19.0	
đ						2.0		- 3			
9											
2001						1.0					
10											

Two copies of this form	01176	
Attested Copy of CNIC (Govt Servant/ House Owner)	Reference(Personal File No	dated
Computerized Paysilp issued by AGPRIAG/DAO Sanction letter of twins insued by Agentages and a	(it is certified that all information is correct and original record has	been verified)

Sign with Name, Date and Stamp of DDI

DCS FORM FORM FOR DIRECT CREDIT OF PENSION THROUGH BANK ACCOUNT

Pensioner information (To be filled in by the Pensioner)

PPO NO/DCS NO.	
SAP Personal No. (AS PER PAY SLIP)	
Account office (From where PPO originally issued)	The same of the sa
NAME OF PENSIONER	
Father / Husband Name	
Pensioner old NIC No.	
Pensioner CNIC (NADRA)	
FAMILY PENSIONER NAME	
Spouse/Son/Daughter/Father/Mother (select on	e)
Family Pensioner CNIC (NADRA)	
Residential address (Current)	
Residential address (Permanent)	
Designation & Grade at the time of Retirement	
Ministry / Division / Deptt. / Office	
E MAIL ADDRESS (G-MAIL ONLY)	
CONTACT NUMBER (COMPULSORY)	
the bank. *The Pensioner shall produce an indemnity Bond to kee whatsoever including mark-up of his/her Pension acco	it scheme and have also submitted *indemnity bond to p the bank indemnified about liabilities with all sums of money unt. The pensioner would further undertake that his/her legal mount, if any credited to his/her pension account either in full or in nt.

ACCOUNT VERIFICATION (TO BE VERIFIED BY THE BANK) CUTTING / OVERWRITING / FLUID / JOINT ACCOUNT NOT ACCEPTABLE BELOW MENTIONED PORTION MAY PLEASE BE FILLED COMPLETELY.

Account Title (Name)	
Account No.	
Bank Name	
Branch Address	
Branch Code	
Indemnity Bond / Lien subn	nitted by the pensioner

SIGNATURE / STAMP OF BANK MANAGER

(Indemnity bond on stamp paper duly verified by notary public/oath commissioner)

INDEMNITY BOND

To,	
The Manager,	
	(Name of Bank)
	(Branch)
	(City)
In compliance with the SBP's instructions	for payment of pension through your bank branch I agree
indemnify you and keep you indemnified a	about liabilities with all sums of money whatsoever includ
	undertake that my legal heirs, successors, executors shall
	edited to my pension account either in full or in installme
equal to such excess amount.	
Co-Indemnifier/Nominee/Successor	Signature
Next of Kin:	Name of Pensioner :
CNIC :	Date of Retirement :
Address :	PPO No :
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Bank Account No:
Signature :	CNIC:
Witness – 1	Witness -2
	Witness -2
Witness – 1 CNIC : Signature :	

SL.53 OF A MANUAL ON PENSION PROCEDURE (Sub S.No.8)

Six months before the expected date of retirement

Government of Pakistan Establishment Division (Cabinet Secretariat Block) ISLAMABAD

No. 333(1)/Gen/PWO/2016	15-09-2016.
To,	
The,	
Subject: - REQUEST FOR FURNISHING "N CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE FROM	
Reference instructions contained at S	Sr No.53 of Manual of Pension
Procedures (Copy enclosed).	
2 It is informed that Mr	working
as is going to be r	
on	
3 As per above instructions, it is intimate	ed that "No Demand Certificate"/
Clearance Certificate from Estate Office is requi	red for finalization of Pension case
well before six months before date of retirement (s	specimen attached).
4 The above information may be furnished	within three days <u>by</u> 2016.
	Welfare Officer (Pension)
	,
Copy for information please:-	
1. DS (Admn-I)	
2. SO (Admn-II)	

SL.53 OF A MANUAL ON PENSION PROCEDURE (Sub S.No.8)

Six months before the expected date of retirement

Government of Pakistan

			(Cabinet		Division iat Block)		
No						1	5-09-2016.
		N	O DEMAN	D CE	RTIFIC	ATE	
Mr			d that the		BPS-	is going to	be retired on
This may	y pl	_from G ease be to	overnment Serveated as NDC a	vice on as for as	attaining the this Section	ne age of sup n/Branch is	erannuation. concerned:-
		1	Cashier	_			
		2	DDO	-		- ,	
		3	Librarian				
		4	Stationery Sto	re _	1		
		5	Gen Section				
		6	SO (G)	_			
		7	Hiring Assista	nt _			
		8	SO (Admn-IV) _			

Section Officer (Admn-II)

Distributions

- 1. AGPR, Islamabad
- 2. PS to Secy Estb
- 3. DS (Admn-I)

SL.53 OF A MANUAL ON PENSION PROCEDURE (Sub S.No.10)

At least three months before the expected date of retirement

Government of Pakistan **Establishment Division** (Cabinet Secretariat Block) ISLAMABAD

No. 333(1)/	/Gen/PWO/2016		10-11-2016
To,			
	e		
Subject:- PE	ENSION CASE IN RESPECT OF MR MPLOYEE OF ESTABLISHMENT DIVISION	, ISL	MALI (BS-03) AN AMABAD
Islamabad 1 of superann	fr LDC (BS-07), an employee on as retired from Government service w.e.f years uation. He has rendered more then years ers on prescribed form sent herewith in duplication.	gov	on attaining the age
	Office Order No dt regarding retirement of officer/official Specimen Signature Thumb/Finger impression Photocopy of CNIC Envelop containing Photographs Option to continue 35% Pension Undertaking Application to draw pension from NBP Certificate for non-indulgence in politics No Demand Certificate from Estab Div Clearance Certificate from Estate Office List of Family Members Last Pay Certificate Computerized Pay Slip DCS Option Form Service Book Personal/Vendor Number		In Duplicate In Duplicate In Duplicate In Duplicate O2 Nos In Duplicate
be admitted f necessary Per issued accord	rmation please:-	there DC (established and may
1.	PS to Secy Estb DS (Admn-I)		

3.

SO (Admn-II)

Government of Pakistan Establishment Division (Cabinet Secretariat Block) ISLAMABAD

No. 333(1)/Ge	en/PWO/2016		Jan, 2016
To,			
The A	accounts Officer (EFC)	
	e of the AGPR,		
15LA	MABAD		
Subject: - ISSU	JANCE OF PENSI	ION PAYMENT ORDER	
Refere	ence instructions co	ntained at Sr No.53 of Man	nual on Pension
Procedures (Co			ida on Tension
It is in	ntimated that Pensio	n case in respect of Mr	
was forwarded	to AGPR, Islamaba	nd for grant of Pension on	as per
		Order/sanction is to be issue	
	cted date of retiremen		
It is re	equested that Pension	n Payment Order may be issu	ied in favour of
		nsion Payment Order may be f	
Division.	,		orwarded to this
An early	y action in this regard	l will be much appreciated.	
		Pension Welfare	Officer
Copy for informa	ation please:-		
1. PS	to Secy Estb		
3. DS	(Admn-I)		
3. SO	(Admn-II)		

CHECK LIST - PENSIONSIONER

- 1. Application is on papers Form CSR 23 (Revised)
- 2. Office Order/Notification of retirement
- 3. Specimen signature of applicant & Thumb/ Finger impression
- 4. Two photocopies of CNIC/Two photograph of the applicant
- 5. List of family members showing relationship, ages and whether dependent or otherwise (Two Sets) & NADRA Form "B"
- 6. Undertaking for recovery of Government dues
- 7. Certificate about non indulgence in Politics
- 8. No Demand Certificate from Department
- 9. No Demand Certificate from Estate Office (if occupied Govt accommodation
- 10. Account No. and name of Bank ,Branch from where applicant wishes to draw pension with DCS option form duly attested by Bank Manager
- 11. LPC / Service Statement with Computerized Last Salary Slip
- 12. Service Book in original containing all entries upto retirement, verification of Service and verification of Pay fixation

ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENT FOR FAMILY PENSION

- 1. Application for Family Pension through Office/Department
- 2. Death Certificate
- 3. Specimen Signature/Thumb & Fingers Impression
- 4. Two photographs of Window & Two copies of Widow's CNIC
- 5. List of family members showing relationship, ages and whether dependent or otherwise (Two Sets) & NADRA Form "B"
- 6. Bank Account No & Descriptive Roll of Widow
- 7. Deceased's Pension Book (Original)
- 8. Nomination/Guardian ship for minor children
- 9. Succession Certificate
- 10. Non-separation/no remarriage certificate
- 11. Certificate to the effect that she in only widow/nominated widow for drawl of Pension
- 12. Previous Pension Book in Original is to be attached with pension papers with a last payment certificate accorded by the Bank for payment of lifetime arrears where PPO was issued.

Note Each and every paper is attested by the Department concerned

4/3 Fut پنشزز کے لئے ضروری بدایات ا درارتیں اوویون دوار مارمن سے تقریبا ایک سال پہلے سے پنش کیسر تیار کرنا شروع کردیں۔جس میں تقدیق شدہ مروس شیشن / بائیوڈیٹااورسروں یک کی ہرلحاظ سے تحیل شامل ہیں۔ ۲_ریٹائرمنٹ ہے کم از کم تین ماہ قبل پنشز انحکمہ کانمائندہ النے کھل کاغذات PFC Counter پرجمع کروائیں۔ پنش کے سلسلے میں مندرجہ ذیل تقید تی شدہ کا غذات کے دو کمل سیٹ ضروری ہیں۔ درخواست برائے پنش فارم CSR-25 2- ريٹائرمنٽ کانوٹيفيکيشن 3_ وستخط کے نمونے اور انگو تھے/ انگلیوں کے نشانات۔ 4- 2 عددتصادر اورشاختی کارڈ کی تقید مق مثرہ 2 نقول۔ خائدان كى كمل تفصيل _ بمح نا درا سے جارى كرده فارم 'ب'_ گورنمنٹ کے بقایا جات کی ایک سال کے اندروا کسی کی یقین وہائی۔ ریٹائرمنٹ کے دوسال کے دوران سیاست میں حصہ ندیلینے کی تقین وہائی۔ -7 متعلقه ادار کا لو دیما تدسر شیقکیٹ (No Demand Certificate) مركارى مكان كى صورت مين الشيث آفن كاكليرنس مرفيفكيث-متعلقہ بنک برانچ کا عمل نام اورا کاؤنٹ نمبر۔ (کی بھی کمرشل بنک سے پنش لینے کی صورت میں DCS آپٹن فارم) مكمل اصل مروس مك بمع تقيد لق شد اقل _ 12- تخواه کی آخری ادائیگی کاسر شیفکیٹ (Last Pay Certificate) بح مامان تخواه کی آخری کمپیوٹرائز ڈیے سائے۔ :1- طبعی بنیاد بریش لینے کی صورت میں میڈیکل بورڈ کاس شفکیٹ۔ دوران سروی وفات کی صورت شن مندرجه بالا کا غذات کے علاوہ مندرجہ ذیل کا غذات بھی ضروری ہیں۔ -1. اشام پیر پرددباره شادی نه کرنے ، دوران زندگی علیحد کی آورواحد بیوه ہونے کابیان حلقی۔ 1- مزعوم برکاری ملازم کافوتیدگی کاسر شیفکیٹ_(Death Certificate) 1- قرضے کے بقایا جات کا معانی نامہ نسلک کریں۔(اگرکوئی ہے) بدمعلومات کے لئے مندرجہ ذیل ٹیلی فون نم زیررالطہ کریں۔ . 051-9260782-آرایک، 051-9260168_JUJUS ------ 15/2012-10s اكارفش باف يشد

فیلی پنش کے لئے درکار کاغذات

ریٹائر منٹ کے بعد وفات کی صورت میں فیملی پنشن کے لئے مندرجہ ذیل تقیدیق شدہ کاغذات کے دوکمل سیٹ نفر در کی ہیں۔

- 1- درخواست برائے فیلی پنش پذر بعیمتعلقہ دفتر۔
- (Death Certificate) مرحوم پنشز کا فوتیدگی کا سرشیفکیٹ _ 2
 - 3- وتخط كنمون إدرانكم مفي الكليول ك نشانات.
 - -4 عددتصاور اور شناخي كارد كى تقدريق شده 2 نقول -4
 - . 5- فاندان كالمل تفصيل بمع نادرا ي جارى كرده فارم 'ب'-
- 6- متعلقه بنك برانج كالكمل نام اوراكا أوت في بر_ (كى بهى كمرشل بنك _ ينش لينے كى صورت ميں DCS آپشن فارم)
 - 7- مرحوم پنشز کی اصل پنش بک_
 - 8- اشلام بير پردوباره شادى نه كرنے ، دوران زندگی عليحدگی ادرواحد بيوه مونے كابيان طلقي-
 - 9- پنشن کی زائدادا کیگی کی دالیسی کی یقین دہائی۔
 - 10 غیر شادی شده بینی مونے کی صورت میں اضام بیر پر بیان طفی۔

مزيد معلومات كے لئے مندرد الل شکی فون تمبرز بررابط كري_

زى ا _ . بى ئند / پنش _ 9260304-051

ا ـــ كي لي آر ـ 9260782

اكادُنش آفير پنش 051-9260623 - 051-9107023

TO ALL THE ESTEEMED READERS

We made every effort to make the Report 'error free'. However, we would appreciate if any correction is pointed out and also welcome any suggestions for improvement.

Comments/suggestions may kindly be made at the below-mentioned addresses:

Muhammad Ayub Khan Tarin Senior Advisor/Secretary, Pension Committee.

E-mail addresses:
ombuds.ayubtarin@gmail.com
msarwarwms@gmail.com

